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Certification of financial statements 

For the reporting period ended 30 June 2020 

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and 
Attractions have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 
2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2020 and the financial position as at 30 June 2020. 

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate. 

Amanda Klenke 
Chief Finance Officer 

10 September 2020 

JL,Lv� 
Mark Webb 
Accountable Authority 

1 0 September 2020 
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Auditor General 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Parliament of Western Australia 

DEPARTMENT OF BIODIVERSITY, CONSERVATION AND ATTRACTIONS 

Report on the financial statements 

Opinion 
I have audited the financial statements of the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and 
Attractions which comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2020, the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Schedule of 
Income and Expenses by Service, Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service, and Summary of 
Consolidated Account Appropriations for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, including administered transactions 
and balances. 

In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material 
respects, the operating results and cash flows of the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and 
Attractions for the year ended 30 June 2020 and the financial position at the end of that period. They 
are in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Treasurer's Instructions. 

Basis for opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of my report. I am independent of the Department in accordance with the Auditor 

General Act 2006 and the relevant ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board's APES 11 0 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Co.de) that are 
relevant to my audit of the financial statements. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 

Responsibility of the Director general for the financial statements 
The Director General is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the 
Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer's Instructions, and for such internal control as the 
Director General determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Director General is responsible for assessing the entity's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Western Australian Government has made 
policy or funding decisions affecting the continued existence of the Department. 

Auditor's responsibility for the audit of the financial statements 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements. The objectives of my audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 
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A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at 
https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors responsibilities/ar4.pdf. This description forms part of my auditor's 
report. 

Report on controls 

Opinion 
I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the design and implementation of controls 
exercised by the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions. The controls exercised by 
the Department are those policies and procedures established by the Director General to ensure that 
the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the 
incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions (the overall control 
objectives). 

My opinion has been formed on the basis of the matters outlined in this report. 

In my opinion, in all material respects, the controls exercised by the Department of Biodiversity, 
Conservation and Attractions are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the 
receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property and the 
incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions during the year ended 
30 June 2020. 

The Director General's responsibilities 
The Director General is responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining controls to ensure 
that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and 
the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006, the Treasurer's 
Instructions and other relevant written law. 

Auditor General's responsibilities 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is to 
express an opinion on the suitability of the design of the controls to achieve the overall control 
objectives and the implementation of the controls as designed. I conducted my engagement in 
accordance with Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3150 Assurance Engagements on 
Controls issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. That standard requires 
that I comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform my procedures to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether, in all material respects, the controls are suitably designed to 
achieve the overall control objectives and were implemented as designed. 

An assurance engagement to report on the design and implementation of controls involves performing 
procedures to obtain evidence about the suitability of the design of controls to achieve the overall 
control objectives and the implementation of those controls. The procedures selected depend on my 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks that controls are not suitably designed or 
implemented as designed. My procedures included testing the implementation of those controls that I 
consider necessary to achieve the overall control objectives. 

I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. 

Limitations of controls 
Because of the inherent limitations of any internal control structure, it is possible that, even if the 
controls are suitably designed and implemented as designed, once the controls are in operation, the 
overall control objectives may not be achieved so that fraud, error, or non-compliance with laws and 
regulations may occur and not be detected. Any projection of the outcome of the evaluation of the 
suitability of the design of controls to future periods is subject to the risk that the controls may become 
unsuitable because of changes in conditions. 
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Report on the key performance indicators 

Opinion 
I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the key performance indicators of the 

Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions for the year ended 30 June 2020. The key 

performance indicators are the Under Treasurer-approved key effectiveness indicators and key 

efficiency indicators that provide performance information about achieving outcomes and delivering 

services. 

In my opinion, in all material respects, the key performance indicators of the Department of 

Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the 

agency's performance and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2020. 

Matter of Significance 

The Department received an exemption from the Under Treasurer from reporting the 'Average level of 

visitor satisfaction in national parks and other lands and waters' key performance indicator for the 

year ended 30 June 2020. 

The exemption was approved because the survey data was deemed not to be representative of a 
statewide population. Face to face surveys were unable to be completed during the major sampling 
period due to COVID-19 pandemic restrictions. Consequently, the indicator has not been reported. My 
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

The Director general's responsibility for the key performance indicators 

The Director General is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance 

indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer's Instructions 

and for such internal control as the Director General determines necessary to enable the preparation 

of key performance indicators that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the key performance indicators, the Department is responsible for identifying key 

performance indicators that are relevant and appropriate, having regard to their purpose in 

accordance with Treasurer's Instruction 904 Key Performance Indicators. 

Auditor General's responsibility 

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is to 

express an opinion on the key performance indicators. The objectives of my engagement are to 

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the key performance indicators are relevant and 

appropriate to assist users to assess the entity's performance and whether the key performance 

indicators are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's 

report that includes my opinion. I conducted my engagement in accordance with Standard on 

Assurance Engagements ASAE 3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of 
Historical Financial Information issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. 

That standard requires that I comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance 

engagements. 

An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the key performance indicators. It also involves evaluating the relevance and 
appropriateness of the key performance indicators against the criteria and guidance in Treasurer's 
Instruction 904 for measuring the extent of outcome achievement and the efficiency of service 
delivery. The procedures selected depend on my judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making these risk assessments I obtain 
an understanding of internal control relevant to the engagement in order to design procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances. 

I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 

opinion. 
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My independence and quality control relating to the reports on controls and key performance 
indicators 
I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and the 
relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance engagements. In accordance with ASQC 1 Quality 
Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Reports and Other Financial 
Information, and Other Assurance Engagements, the Office of the Auditor General maintains a 
comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and procedures regarding 
compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory 
requirements. 

Matters relating to the electronic publication of the audited financial statements and key 
performance indicators 
This auditor's report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the 
Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions for the year ended 30 June 2020 included 
on the Department's website. The Department's management is responsible for the integrity of the 
Department's website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the Department's 
website. The auditor's report refers only to the financial statements and key performance indicators 
described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have been 
hyperlinked to/from these financial statements or key performance indicators. If users of the financial 
statements and key performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising from 
publication on a website, they are advised to contact the entity to confirm the information contained in 
the website version of the financial statements and key performance indicators. 

CAROLINE SPENCER 
AUDITOR GENERAL 
FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
Perth, Western Australia 
16 September 2020 
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Restated
 Note 2020 2019*

$'000 $'000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 3.1(a) 175,133 168,040
Supplies and services 3.3 72,212 71,679
Depreciation expense 5.3 26,252 22,358
Accommodation expenses 3.3 3,417 3,041
Grants and subsidies 3.2 42,771 35,347
Other expenses 3.3 24,680 24,082
Finance costs 7.2 262 0
Total cost of services 344,727 324,547

Loss on revaluation of assets
Loss on revaluation of land 5.1 251,400 106,416
Total loss on revaluation of assets 251,400 106,416

Income

Revenue
User charges and fees 4.2 43,503 45,920
Commonwealth grants and contributions 4.4 2,255 1,260
Other grants and contributions 4.5 20,314 19,235
Interest revenue 781 1,946
Other revenue 4.3 13,980 11,569
Total Revenue 80,833 79,930

Gains
Gains on disposal of non-current assets 4.6 342 766
Total Gains 342 766

Total income other than income from State Government 81,175 80,696
NET COST OF SERVICES 514,952 350,267

Income from State Government 4.1
Service appropriation 254,292 233,712
Services received free of charge 1,384 2,060
Royalties for Regions Fund 17,098 11,759

Total income from State Government 272,774 247,531
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD (242,178) (102,736)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items not reclassified subsequently to profit and loss
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 1,105 (151,813)
Total other comprehensive income 1,105 (151,813)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (241,073) (254,549)

*See note '9.2 Correction of prior period errors' for additional information on prior period
restatement.

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.

Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions

For the Year Ended 30 June 2020
Statement of Comprehensive Income

See also the 'Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service'.
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Restated Restated
 Note 2020 2019* 2018*

$'000 $'000 $'000

ASSETS

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7.3 16,437 13,425 15,046
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 7.3 63,787 60,169 74,662
Inventories 6.1 1,581 857 1,236
Receivables 6.2 11,348 12,161 8,671
Amounts receivable for services 6.3 9,782 8,717 8,859
Other current assets 6.4 2,935 3,029 6,869
Non-current assets held for sale 44 101 0
Total Current Assets 105,914 98,459 115,343

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 7.3 2,367 1,805 1,199
Receivables 6.2 2,408 0 0
Amounts receivable for services 6.3 208,648 184,266 163,809
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 5.1 2,626,538 2,837,901 3,085,101
Right-of-use assets 5.2 10,154 0 0
Total Non-Current Assets 2,850,115 3,023,972 3,250,109

TOTAL ASSETS 2,956,029 3,122,431 3,365,452

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities
Payables 6.5 4,414 3,120 2,382
Lease liabilities 7.1 3,710 0 0
Employee related provisions 3.1(b) 35,644 32,410 32,252
Other current liabilities 6.6 11,012 4,781 4,169
Total Current Liabilities 54,780 40,311 38,803

Non-Current Liabilities
Lease liabilities 7.1 6,403 0 0
Employee related provisions 3.1(b) 7,007 6,753 6,467
Other non-current liabilities 6.6 5,375 0 0
Total Non-Current Liabilities 18,785 6,753 6,467

TOTAL LIABILITIES 73,565 47,064 45,270

NET ASSETS 2,882,464 3,075,367 3,320,182

EQUITY 9.8

Contributed equity 3,115,096 3,062,619 3,052,885
Reserves 41,302 40,197 192,010
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) (273,934) (27,449) 75,287
TOTAL EQUITY 2,882,464 3,075,367 3,320,182

See also the 'Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service'.

*See note '9.2 Correction of prior period errors' for additional information on prior period
restatement.

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.

Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions
Statement of Financial Position

As at 30 June 2020
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Note 
9.8

Contributed 
equity Reserves

Accumulated 
surplus/(deficit) Total equity

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2018 3,052,885 207,935 59,386 3,320,206

Changes in accounting policy or correction of prior
period errors 0 (15,925) 15,901 (24)
Restated balance at 1 July 2018 * 3,052,885 192,010 75,287 3,320,182

 Surplus/(deficit) 0 0 (102,736) (102,736)

      Other comprehensive income 0 (151,813) 0 (151,813)

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 (151,813) (102,736) (254,549)

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:
Capital appropriations 3,762 0 0 3,762
Other contributions by owners 6,434 0 0 6,434
Transfer of net assets from other agencies 399 0 0 399
Distributions to owners (861) 0 0 (861)

Total 9,734 0 0 9,734
Restated balance at 30 June 2019* 3,062,619 40,197 (27,449) 3,075,367

Balance at 1 July 2019 3,062,619 40,197 (27,449) 3,075,367
      Changes in accounting policy 0 0 (4,307) (4,307)

Restated balance as at 1 July 2019 3,062,619 40,197 (31,756) 3,071,060

 Surplus/(deficit) 0 0 (242,178) (242,178)
      Other comprehensive income 0 1,105 0 1,105

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 1,105 (242,178) (241,073)
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations 10,778 0 0 10,778
Other contributions by owners 18,559 0 0 18,559
Transfer of net assets from other agencies 23,983 0 0 23,983
Distributions to owners (843) 0 0 (843)

Total 52,477 0 0 52,477
Balance at 30 June 2020 3,115,096 41,302 (273,934) 2,882,464

*See note '9.2 Correction of prior period errors' for additional information on prior period restatement.

Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020
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 Note 2020 2019
$'000 $'000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

Service appropriation 220,128 204,538
Capital appropriations 10,778 3,762
Holding account drawdowns 8,717 8,859
Non-retained revenue distributed to owner (843) (735)
Royalties for Regions Fund 35,657 18,193

Net cash provided by State Government 274,437 234,617

Utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Employee benefits (171,619) (167,556)
Supplies and services (71,821) (69,216)
Accommodation (3,417) (3,041)
Grants and subsidies (42,771) (35,347)
GST payments on purchases (13,419) (12,389)
GST payments to taxation authority (207) (60)
Other payments (24,045) (19,881)
Finance costs (262) 0

Receipts

User charges and fees 46,285 42,294
Commonweath grants and contributions 3,138 1,260
Interest received 1,063 2,109
GST receipts on sales 5,410 5,498
GST receipts from taxation authority 8,476 7,040
Other receipts 35,902 31,147

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 7.3.2 (227,287) (218,142)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Purchase of non-current physical assets (36,294) (32,971)

Receipts

Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets 990 988

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (35,304) (31,983)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Payments

Principal repayments of lease liabilities (4,654) 0

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities (4,654) 0

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 7,192 (15,508)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 75,399 90,907

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE PERIOD 7.3 82,591 75,399

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 30 June 2020

Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions
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Restated
2020 2020 2020 2019*

Estimate Actual Variance Actual Actual Variance
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Delivery of Services

Item 80 Net amount appropriated to deliver services 209,542 253,667 44,125 253,667 233,087 20,580

Royalties for Regions Fund 22,097 17,098 (4,999) 17,098 11,759 5,339

Amount Authorised by Other Statutes

- Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 625 625 0 625 625 0

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 232,264 271,390 39,126 271,390 245,471 25,919

Capital

Item 125 Capital appropriations 11,190 10,778 (412) 10,778 3,762 7,016
Royalties for Regions Fund 23,994 18,559 (5,435) 18,559 6,434 12,125

Total capital 35,184 29,337 (5,847) 29,337 10,196 19,141

GRAND TOTAL 
267,448 300,727 33,279 300,727 255,667 45,060

Details of Expenses by Service
Visitor Services and Public Programs Provided at Kings Park and Bold Park 0 12,457 12,457 12,457 11,641 816
Visitor Services and Public Programs Provided at Rottnest Island 0 12,647 12,647 12,647 4,729 7,918
Visitor Services and Public Programs Provided at Perth Zoo 0 9,682 9,682 9,682 7,738 1,944
Visitor Services and Public Programs Provided in the Swan and Canning Riverpark 14,196 13,677 (519) 13,677 15,674 (1,997)
Visitor Services and Public Programs Provided in National Parks and Other Lands and Waters 100,445 97,199 (3,246) 97,199 92,347 4,852
Conserving Habitats, Species and Ecological Communities 63,543 60,268 (3,275) 60,268 63,641 (3,373)
Research and Conservation Partnerships 27,983 20,694 (7,289) 20,694 21,494 (800)
Implementation of the Forest Management Plan 19,271 18,437 (834) 18,437 19,801 (1,364)
Prescribed Burning and Fire Management 51,078 50,193 (885) 50,193 51,248 (1,055)
Bushfire Suppression 31,383 49,473 18,090 49,473 36,234 13,239

Total Cost of Services 307,899 344,727 36,828 344,727 324,547 20,180
Add Loss on Revaluation of Assets 0 251,400 251,400 251,400 106,416 144,984

Less Total Income (77,180) (81,175) (3,995) (81,175) (80,696) (479)

Net Cost of Services 230,719 514,952 284,233 514,952 350,267 164,685

Adjustments 1,545 (243,562) (245,107) (243,562) (109,491) (134,071)
Total appropriations provided to deliver services 232,264 271,390 39,126 271,390 240,776 30,614

Capital Expenditure

Purchase of non-current physical assets 41,901 36,294 (5,607) 36,294 32,971 3,323

Adjustment for other funding sources (6,717) (6,957) (240) (6,957) (22,775) 15,818

Capital appropriations 35,184 29,337 (5,847) 29,337 10,196 19,141

Details of Income Estimates
Income disclosed as Administered Income 30 102 72 102 102 0

30 102 72 102 102 0

*See note '9.2 Correction of prior period errors' for additional information on prior period restatement.

Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions

Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.

Note 10.1 ‘Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service’ and Note 10.2 ‘Explanatory statement for Administered 
Items’ provide details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2020 and between the actual results for 
2020 and 2019.

Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations
As at 30 June 2020

"2020 Estimate" refers to the Department's (excluding Zoological Parks Authority, Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority and Rottnest 
Island Authority) budget estimates approved under section 40 of the Financial Management Act 2006. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 

1. Basis of preparation

The Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions is a WA Government entity and is
controlled by the State of Western Australia, which is the ultimate parent. The Department is a
not-for-profit entity (as profit is not its principal objective).

A description of the nature of its operations and its principal activities have been included in the
‘Overview’ which does not form part of these financial statements.

These annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Accountable Authority of the
Department on 10 September 2020.

Statement of compliance

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with:

1. The Financial Management Act 2006 (FMA)
2. The Treasurer’s Instructions (the Instructions or TI)
3. Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) including applicable interpretations

4. Where appropriate, those AAS paragraphs applicable for not-for-profit entities have been
applied.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions (the Instructions) take 
precedence over AAS. Several AAS are modified by the Instructions to vary application, disclosure 
format and wording.  Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial 
effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

 Basis of preparation 

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars applying the accrual basis of 
accounting and using the historical cost convention. Certain balances will apply a different 
measurement basis (such as the fair value basis). Where this is the case the different 
measurement basis is disclosed in the associated note. All values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars ($’000). 

Judgements and estimates 

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about financial information 
being presented. The significant judgements and estimates made in the preparation of these 
financial statements are disclosed in the notes where amounts affected by those judgements 
and/or estimates are disclosed. Estimates and associated assumptions are based on professional 
judgements derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances.  

Significant judgements and estimates have been made to meet the requirements of the new 
standards AASB 16, AASB 15 and AASB 1058.    

AASB 16: 

Key judgements to be made for AASB 16 include identifying leases within contracts, determination 
of whether there is reasonable certainty around exercising extension and termination options, 
identifying whether payments are variable or fixed in substance and determining the stand-alone 
selling prices for lease and non-lease components. 
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Estimation uncertainty that may arise is the estimation of the lease term, determination of the 
appropriate discount rate to discount the lease payments and assessing whether the right-of-use 
asset needs to be impaired. 

AASB 15: 

Key judgements include determining the timing of revenue from contracts with customers in terms 
of timing of satisfaction of performance obligations and determining the transaction price and the 
amounts allocated to performance obligations. 

Estimation uncertainty include determining the transaction prices (estimating variable 
consideration, adjusting the consideration for the time value of money and measuring non-cash 
considerations), allocating the transaction price, including estimating stand-alone selling prices 
and allocating discounts and variable consideration. 

AASB 1058: 

Key judgements include determining whether funds are restricted and whether transferred funds 
represent a transfer of a non-financial asset. 

Key judgements also include determing whether AASB 15, AASB 1058 or a combination of the 
two standards apply to a contract with a funding provider. This requires an assessment of whether 
there are specific performance obligations present in the contract.  

Refer to Note 9.1.1 for the impact of the initial adoption and the practical expedients applied in the 
initial recognition. 

Contributed equity 

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities 
requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of 
administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions 
by owners (at the time of, or prior, to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity 
contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 
Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited 
directly to Contributed Equity. 

The transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of 
administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are 
non-discretionary and non-reciprocal. 

2. Department output
How the Department operates

This section includes information regarding the nature of funding the Department receives and
how this funding is utilised to achieve the Department’s objectives. This note also provides the
distinction between controlled funding and administered funding:

Note 
Department objectives 2.1 
Schedule of income and expenses by service 2.2 
Schedule of assets and liability by service 2.3 

2.1 Department objectives 

Mission 

The Department works with the community to ensure that Western Australia’s environment is 
valued, protected and conserved, for its intrinsic value, and for the appreciation and benefit of 
present and future generations.  
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Funding is predominantly provided by Parliamentary appropriations supplemented by fees 
received for the provision of services to the public. The financial statements encompass all funds 
through which the Department controls resources to carry on its functions. 

The Department administers assets, liabilities, income and expenses on behalf of Government 
which are not controlled by, nor integral to, the function of the Department. These administered 
balances and transactions are not recognised in the principal financial statements of the 
Department but schedules are prepared using the same basis as the financial statements and are 
presented at Note 10.1 ‘Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service’ and Note 
10.3 ‘Administered assets and liabilties’. 

Services 

The Department provides the following services: 

Service 1: Visitor Services and Public Programs Provided at Kings Park and Bold Park 

The Department provides an annual grant to the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority to provide 
visitor services and public programs to the community for this service. 

Service 2: Visitor Services and Public Programs Provided at Rottnest Island 

The Department provides an annual grant to the Rottnest Island Authority to provide visitor 
services and public programs to the community for this service. 

Service 3: Visitor Services and Public Programs Provided at Perth Zoo 

The Department provides an annual grant to the Zoological Parks Authority to provide visitor 
services and public programs to the community for this service. 

Service 4: Visitor Services and Public Programs Provided in the Swan and Canning Riverpark 

Provide facilities, experiences and programs to visitors to the Swan and Canning Riverpark for 
their enjoyment and appreciation of natural, cultural and heritage values and to strengthen 
community understanding and support for conservation of plants, animals and habitats. 

Service 5: Visitor Services and Public Programs Provided in National Parks and Other Lands and 
Waters 

Provide facilities, experiences and programs to visitors to national parks and other lands and 
waters for their enjoyment and appreciation of natural, cultural and heritage values and to 
strengthen community understanding and support for conservation of plants and animals.  

Service 6: Conserving Habitats, Species and Ecological Communities 

Develop and implement programs for the conservation of biodiversity. 

Service 7: Research and Conservation Partnerships 

Work with the community, industry, traditional owners and other stakeholders to deliver research 
and conservation outcomes. 

Service 8: Implementation of the Forest Management Plan 

Manage State forests in accordance with the approved Forest Management Plan and provide 
services that support forest production activities. 

Service 9: Prescribed Burning and Fire Management 

Deliver prescribed burning and fire management to protect the community and enhance natural 
values. 

Service 10: Bushfire Suppression 

Suppress bushfires that threaten or occur on lands managed by the Department. 
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Consolidation: 

Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, Rottnest Island Authority and Zoological Parks Authority 
are separate legal entities governed by their respective boards appointed under Botanic Gardens 
and Parks Authority Act 1998, Rottnest Island Authority Act 1987 and Zoological Parks Authority 
Act 2001 respectively and consequently, their financial results are presented separately and not 
consolidated into these financial statements.  

The financial statements of the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions will 
include Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, Rottnest Island Authority and Zoological Parks 
Authority only to the extent it has provided direct funding to each of the statutory authorities. 

To facilitate interpretation of the financial reports of the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation 
and Attractions, funding provided to Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, Rottnest Island 
Authority and Zoological Parks Authority are disclosed as Service 1 – “Visitor Services and Public 
Programs Provided at Kings Park and Bold Park”, Service 2 – “Visitor Services and Public 
Programs Provided at Rottnest Island” and Service 3 – “Visitor Services and Public Programs 
Provided at Perth Zoo”. These disclosures do not represent the full and comprehensive financial 
results and financial position of Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, Rottnest Island Authority 
and Zoological Parks Authority. For full disclosure of the financial results and financial position of 
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, Rottnest Island Authority and Zoological Parks Authority, 
refer to the annual report and financial statements of the individual statutory authority.  
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2.2 Schedule of income and expenses by service 
For the year ended 30 June 2020 

Restated Restated Restated Restated Restated Restated Restated Restated Restated Restated Restated
2020 2019* 2020 2019* 2020 2019* 2020 2019* 2020 2019* 2020 2019* 2020 2019* 2020 2019* 2020 2019* 2020 2019* 2020 2019*
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses
Employee benefits expense 0 0 0 0 0 0 6,890 5,472 51,247 47,852 42,080 45,386 11,363 10,076 11,981 12,674 33,925 34,955 17,647 11,625 175,133 168,040
Supplies and services 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,348 1,797 24,310 24,533 11,149 12,231 6,897 8,504 4,452 4,495 10,164 9,605 12,892 10,514 72,212 71,679
Depreciation expense 0 0 0 0 0 0 246 244 13,383 12,200 2,679 1,876 757 519 1,155 1,093 4,662 3,986 3,370 2,440 26,252 22,358
Accommodation expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0 70 56 1,470 1,267 820 738 237 185 137 165 393 414 290 216 3,417 3,041
Grants and subsidies 12,457 11,641 12,647 4,729 9,682 7,738 3,928 7,903 3,071 1,754 205 152 724 1,353 9 33 25 27 23 17 42,771 35,347
Other expenses 0 0 0 0 0 0 193 202 3,614 4,741 3,284 3,258 705 857 688 1,341 971 2,261 15,225 11,422 24,680 24,082
Finance costs 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 104 0 51 0 11 0 15 0 53 0 26 0 262 0
Total cost of services 12,457 11,641 12,647 4,729 9,682 7,738 13,677 15,674 97,199 92,347 60,268 63,641 20,694 21,494 18,437 19,801 50,193 51,248 49,473 36,234 344,727 324,547

Loss on revaluation of assets
Loss on revaluation of land 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,710 724 72,404 30,648 63,630 26,934 0 0 113,656 48,110 0 0 0 0 251,400 106,416
Total loss on revaluation of assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,710 724 72,404 30,648 63,630 26,934 0 0 113,656 48,110 0 0 0 0 251,400 106,416

Income
User charges and fees 0 0 0 0 0 0 251 156 24,368 26,361 5,320 4,911 1,794 2,583 3,952 5,968 1,604 1,911 6,214 4,030 43,503 45,920
Commonw ealth grants and contributions 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 168 0 0 9 2,087 1,252 0 0 0 (1) 0 0 2,255 1,260
Other grants and contributions 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,613 3,640 2,582 2,605 526 761 12,040 11,486 200 259 1,353 484 0 0 20,314 19,235
Interest revenue 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 81 315 80 351 565 1,078 44 184 11 18 0 0 781 1,946
Other revenue 0 0 0 0 0 0 12 299 6,715 5,024 3,628 3,387 108 107 3,088 2,226 165 319 264 207 13,980 11,569
Gains on disposal of non-current assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 14 (76) 131 (19) (7) 7 (15) 40 57 164 298 219 288 342 766
Total income other than income from State Government 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,883 4,109 33,838 34,436 9,535 9,412 16,601 16,491 7,324 8,694 3,297 3,029 6,697 4,525 81,175 80,696

NET COST OF SERVICES 12,457 11,641 12,647 4,729 9,682 7,738 11,504 12,289 135,765 88,559 114,363 81,163 4,093 5,003 124,769 59,217 46,896 48,219 42,776 31,709 514,952 350,267

Income from State Government
Service appropriation 12,457 11,641 12,647 4,729 9,682 7,738 9,485 9,988 63,093 57,972 49,420 53,662 0 0 10,658 11,224 45,615 47,555 41,235 29,203 254,292 233,712
Services received free of charge 0 0 0 0 0 0 64 201 416 242 202 156 63 53 324 81 167 125 148 1,202 1,384 2,060
Royalties for Regions Fund 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11,161 5,944 437 425 0 0 0 0 5,500 5,390 0 0 17,098 11,759
Total income from State Government 12,457 11,641 12,647 4,729 9,682 7,738 9,549 10,189 74,670 64,158 50,059 54,243 63 53 10,982 11,305 51,282 53,070 41,383 30,405 272,774 247,531

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) for the period 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,955) (2,100) (61,095) (24,401) (64,304) (26,920) (4,030) (4,950) (113,787) (47,912) 4,386 4,851 (1,393) (1,304) (242,178) (102,736)

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction w ith the accompanying notes.
(a) Note: The service includes transactions only to the extent that the Department has provided direct funding to the statutory authority. These disclosures do not represent the f inancial result and f inancial position of the Zoological Parks Authority, Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority and Rottnest Island Authority. 
For a full disclosure of the f inancial result and f inancial position of each statutory authority, refer to the annual report and f inancial statements of Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, Rottnest Island Authority and Zoological Parks Authority respectively. 

*See note '9.2 Correction of prior period errors' for additional information on prior period restatement. Depreciation expense w as restated in 2019.
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2.3 Schedule of assets and liabilities by service 

As at 30 June 2020

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

ASSETS
Current assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,901 626 20,563 19,053 60,945 3,284 7,253 62,712 4,033 6,267 5,559 3,839 5,660 2,678 105,914 98,459
Non-current assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 27,411 23,310 973,183 1,002,836 712,794 689,702 18,477 15,911 977,289 1,168,379 82,150 71,074 58,811 52,760 2,850,115 3,023,972
Total assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 29,312 23,936 993,746 1,021,889 773,739 692,986 25,730 78,623 981,322 1,174,646 87,709 74,913 64,471 55,438 2,956,029 3,122,431

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,686 1,220 19,200 12,988 15,752 12,524 2,960 2,212 4,545 4,021 8,571 6,515 2,066 831 54,780 40,311
Non-current liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0 372 247 7,148 2,096 4,667 2,120 962 426 1,078 542 3,282 1,194 1,276 128 18,785 6,753
Total liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,058 1,467 26,348 15,084 20,419 14,644 3,922 2,638 5,623 4,563 11,853 7,709 3,342 959 73,565 47,064

NET ASSETS 0 0 0 0 0 0 27,254 22,469 967,398 1,006,805 753,320 678,342 21,808 75,985 975,699 1,170,083 75,856 67,204 61,129 54,479 2,882,464 3,075,367

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction w ith the accompanying notes.
(a) Note: The service includes transactions only to the extent that the Department has provided direct funding to the statutory authority. These disclosures do not represent the f inancial result and f inancial position of the Zoological Parks Authority,
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority and Rottnest Island Authority. For a full disclosure of the f inancial results and f inancial position of each statutory authority, refer to the annual report and f inancial statements of Botanic Gardens and Parks
Authority, Rottnest Island Authority and Zoological Parks Authority respectively. 
2019 f igures are not restated, as they are in the Statement of Financial Position, as the correction resulted in a reclassif ication of equity betw een the revaluation reserve and accumulated surplus. Assets or liabilities w ere not impacted.
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3. Use of our funding
Expenses incurred in the delivery of services

This section provides additional information about how the Department’s funding is applied and
the accounting policies that are relevant for an understanding of the items recognised in the
financial statements. The primary expenses incurred by the Department in achieving its objectives
and the relevant notes are:

3.1a) Employee benefits expense 

Employee benefits: Includes wages, salaries and social contributions, paid annual leave 
entitlements and paid sick leave, profit-sharing and bonuses; and non-monetary benefits (such as 
medical care, housing, cars and free or subsidised goods or services) for current employees. 

Termination benefits: Payable when employment is terminated before normal retirement date, 
or when an employee accepts an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment. 
Termination benefits are recognised when the Department is demonstrably committed to 
terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without 
possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period are discounted to present value. 

Superannuation: The amount recognised in profit or loss of the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income comprises employer contributions paid to the Gold State Super (GSS) (concurrent 
contributions), the West State Super (WSS), the Government Employees Superannuation Board 
(GESB), or other superannuation funds. The employer contribution paid to the GESB in respect 
of the GSS is paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB. 

GSS (concurrent contributions) is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and 
whole of government reporting. It is however a defined contribution plan, for department purposes 
because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the Department to GESB 
extinguishes the Department’s obligations to the related superannuation liability. 

The Department does not recognise any defined benefit liabilities because it has no legal or 
constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees. The liabilities for the 
unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who 
transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS obligations 
are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Department to the GESB. 

The GESB and other fund providers administer public sector superannuation arrangements in 
Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership 
in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to commencement and 
implementation dates. 

Notes 2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

Employee benefits expense 3.1(a) 175,133 168,040 
Employee related provisions 3.1(b) 42,651 39,163 
Grants and subsidies 3.2 42,771 35,347 
Other expenses 3.3 100,309 98,802 

Employee benefits 161,384 151,142 
Termination benefits 0 3,206 
Superannuation – defined contribution plans (a) 13,749 13,692 
Total employee benefits expense 175,133 168,040 
Add: AASB 16 non-monetary benefits 1,173 0 
Less: Employee contributions (601) 0
Net employee benefits 175,705 168,040 

(a) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super Scheme and other eligible funds.
Payments to GESB during the financial year amounts to $11.79 million (2019: $11.61 million).
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AASB 16 Non-monetary benefits: Non-monetary employee benefits, that are employee benefits 
expenses, predomoninatly relate to the provision of vehicles through State Fleet and housing 
benefits and are measured at the cost incurred by the Department. Depreciation and interest are 
approptioned based on the estimated business use percentage. 

3.1b) Employee related provisions 

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual 
leave and long service leave for services rendered up to the reporting date and recorded as an 
expense during the period the services are delivered. 

2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

Current 
Employee benefits provisions 
Annual leave(a) 15,822 13,664 
Long service leave(b) 19,414 18,375 

35,236 32,039 

Other provisions 
Employment on-costs(c) 408 371 
Total current employee related provisions 35,644 32,410 

Non-current 
Employee benefits provisions 
Long service leave(b) 6,925 6,674 

Other provisions 
Employment on-costs(c) 82 79 
Total non-current employee related provisions 7,007 6,753 

Total employee related provisions 42,651 39,163 

(a) Annual leave liabilities: classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer
settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments
indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 10,669 9,336 
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 5,153 4,328 

15,822 13,664 
The provision for annual leave is calculated at the present value of expected payments to 
be made in relation to services provided by employees up to the reporting date. 

(b) Long service leave liabilities: Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified
as current liabilities as the Department does not have an unconditional right to defer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-
current liabilities because the Department has an unconditional right to defer the
settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as
follows:
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2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 7,381 7,244 
More than 12 months after the reporting period 18,958 17,805 

26,339 25,049 

The provision for long service leave is calculated at present value as the Department 
does not expect to wholly settle the amounts within 12 months. The present value is 
measured taking into account the present value of expected future payments to be made 
in relation to services provided by employees up to the reporting date. These payments 
are estimated using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement 
and discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash outflows. 

(c) Employment on-costs: The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives
rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers’ compensation insurance.
The provision is the present value of expected future payments.

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee
benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment
to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other
expenses’, Note 3.3 (apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost)) and are not
included as part of the Department’s ‘employee benefits expense’. The related liability is
included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.

2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

Employment on-costs provision 
Carrying amount at start of period 450 446 
Additional/(reversals of) provisions recognised 186 180 
Payments/other sacrifices of economic benefits (151) (185)
Unwinding of the discount 5 9 
Carrying amount at end of period 490 450 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty – long service leave 

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

Several estimates and assumptions are used in calculating the Department’s long service 
leave provision. These include: 

• Expected future salary rates,
• Discount rates,
• Employee retention rates; and
• Expected future payments.

Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the 
long service leave provision. Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of 
long service leave liabilities is recognised as employee benefits expense. Any gain or loss 
following revaluation of the present value of long service leave liabilities is recognised as 
employee benefits expense. 
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2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

3.2 Grants and subsidies 

Recurrent 
State Government (a) 37,470 26,289 
Private organisations  4,486 4,664 
Local Government  475 3,642 
Federal Government 340 752 
Total grants and subsidies 42,771 35,347 

(a) State Government entities with significant total grants provided by the Department:

Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 12,457 11,641 
Zoological Parks Authority 9,885 7,747 
Rottnest Island Authority 12,647 4,729 
Department of Water and Environmental Regulation 2,204 1,387 
Western Australian Museum  148 494 

Transactions in which the Department provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a 
liability) or labour to another party without receiving approximately equal value in return are 
categorised as ‘Grant expenses’. Grants can either be operating or capital in nature.  

Grants can be paid as general purpose grants which refer to grants that are not subject to 
conditions regarding their use. Alternatively, they may be paid as specific purpose grants which 
are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions attached regarding their use.  

Grants and other transfers to third parties (other than contribution to owners) are recognised as 
an expense in the reporting period in which they are paid or payable. They include transactions 
such as: grants, subsidies, personal benefit payments made in cash to individuals and other 
transfer payments made to public sector agencies, local government, non-government schools, 
and community groups. 

3.3 Other expenditure 
Supplies and services 
Communications 3,650 3,349 
Consultants and contractors 5,717 4,172 
Services and contracts 33,284 34,508 
Materials 16,306 16,141 
Repairs and maintenance 5,207 5,770 
Travel 4,282 4,449 
Staff Costs (including uniforms & protective clothing) 3,699 3,235 
Other 67 55 
Total supplies and services expenses 72,212 71,679 

Accommodation expenses 
Lease rentals(a) 1,381 1,037 
Electricity, power and water 2,036 2,004 
Total accommodation expenses 3,417 3,041 
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Supplies and services: Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting 
period in which they are incurred.  

During the year the Department’s transactions with government related entities on supplies and 
services amount to $6.57 million (2019: $9.44 million). 

Expected credit losses is an allowance of trade receivables, measured at the lifetime expected 
credit losses at each reporting date.The Department has established a provision matrix that is 
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the 
debtors and the economic environment. Refer to note 6.2.1 Movement in the allowance for 
impairment of receivables. 

Accommodation expenses: Short-term and low value leases are recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the 
time pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the leased asset. Accommodation expense 
includes Government Office Accommodation, that falls outside the scope of AASB 16 Leases.  

Transactions with the Department of Finance was $1.15 million in 2020 (2019: $1.02 million), and 
transactions with the Department of Primary Industries and Regional Development was $0.07 
million in 2020 (2019: $0.79 million). 

Other expenses: Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs 
incurred in the normal operations.  

Employee on-cost includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. 
The on costs liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liabilities is 
included at Note 3.1(b) Employee related provision. Superannuation contributions accrued as 
part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-

 costs. 

Operating lease – motor vehicle: In 2019 transactions with State Fleet amounted to $3.63 
million. In 2020 State Fleet transactions are presented as lease assets and liabilities with cash 
payments disclosed as finance costs and principal repayments of lease liabilities in the Statement 
of Cash Flows. 

Light fleet management costs: Maintenance and running costs for the leased light vehicle fleet. 

Other lease, rental and hire expenses include: 

i) Short-term leases with a lease term of 12 months or less;
ii) Low-value leases with an underlying value of $5,000 or less; and

2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

Other expenses 
Employment on-costs 2,259 1,239 
Operating lease – motor vehicle(b) 0 3,630 
Light fleet management cost 3,566 3,606 
Other lease, rental and hire expenses(a) 17,616 12,456 
Software maintenance 1,239 3,151 
Total other expenses 24,680 24,082 
Total other expenditure  100,309 98,802 
(a) Included within lease rentals  and other lease,rental and hire expenses are short-term

and low value leases of up to $5,000. This excludes leases with another wholly-owned
public sector entity lessor agency. Refer to note 5.2a) for aggregate short-term and low
value lease expense disclosures.

(b) State fleet leases with the Department of Finance have been capitalised as lease assets
and liabilities in the 2019-20 period. See note 5.2 for right of use assets and note 7.1 for
lease liabilities.
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iii) Variable lease pyamnets, recognised in the period in which the event or condition that triggers
those payments occurs.

The Department holds short term and low-value aircraft, plant and equipment and other leases. 
Payments are recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from the use 
of the leased asset.  

During the financial year transactions with the Department of Fire and Emergency Services 
amounted to $1.20 million (2019: $0.81 million). 

Software maintenance: Software licence assurance, upgrade and support costs incurred by the 
Department. 

4. Our funding sources
How we obtain our funding

This section provides additional information about how the Department obtains its funding and the
relevant accounting policy notes that govern the recognition and measurement of this funding. The
primary income received by the Department and the relevant notes are:

2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

Income from State Government 4.1 272,774 247,531 
User charges and fees 4.2 43,503 45,920 
Other revenue 4.3 13,980 11,569 
Commonwealth grants and contributions 4.4 2,255 1,260 
Other grants and contributions 4.5 20,314 19,235 
Gains 4.6 342 766 

4.1 Income from State Government 
Appropriation received during the period: 
Service appropriation(a) 254,292 233,712 

254,292 233,712 

Assets transferred from/(to) other State government 
agencies during the period:(b) 0 0 
Inventories 0 0 
Total assets transferred 0 0 

Services received free of charge from other State 
government agencies during the period: 
- Department of Fire and Emergency Services 0 1,123 
- Department of Justice 51 28 
- Landgate 206 531 
- Department of Finance 89 73 
- Department of Primary Industries and Regional
Development 53 53 

- Department of Water and Environmental Regulation 6 156 
- Main Roads Western Australia 265 10 
- State Solicitors Office 699 70 
- Department of Health 15 16 
Total services received 1,384 2,060 
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2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

Royalties for Regions Fund: 
Regional Community Services Account(c) 17,098 11,759 

Total income from State Government 272,774 247,531 

(a) Service Appropriations are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the
Department gains control of the appropriated funds. The Department gains control of
appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited in the bank account or credited
to the ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.
Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered (as set out in note 2.2).
Appropriation revenue comprises the following:
• Cash component; and
• A receivable (asset).
The receivable (holding account – note 6.3) comprises the following:
• The budgeted depreciation expense for the year; and
• Any agreed increase in leave liabilities during the year.

(b) Transfer of assets: Discretionary transfers of assets (including grants) and liabilities
between State government agencies are reported under Income from State Government.
Transfers of assets and liabilities in relation to a restructure of administrative arrangements
are recognised as distribution to owners by the transferor and contribution by owners by
the transferee under AASB 1004 and interpretation 1038. Other non-discretionary non-
reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities designated as contributions by owners under
TI 955 are also recognised directly to equity.

(c) The Regional Community Services Accounts is a sub-fund within the over-arching
‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The recurrent funds are committed to projects and programs
in WA regional areas and are recognised as income when the Department receives the
funds. The Department has assessed Royalties for Regions agreements and concludes
that they are not within the scope of AASB 15 as they do not meet the ‘sufficiently specific’
criterion.
The application of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 from 1 July 2019 has had no impact on the
treatment of income from State Government.

4.2 User charges and fees 
User charges 20,959 23,657 
Fees 22,544 22,263 

43,503 45,920 

4.2a) User charges 
Entry fees 8,558 9,588 
Camping 5,287 4,632 
Park passes 1,724 1,676 
Merchandise 2,213 2,915 
Leases 1,928 2,201 
Other 1,249 2,645 

20,959 23,657 

During the financial year the Department’s transactions with other government related  entities 
on user charges and fees amounts to $15.33 million (2019: $15.70 million).  

Until 30 June 2019, revenue was recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration 
received or receivable.  
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From 1 July 2019, revenue is recognised in line with the transfer of promised goods or 
services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Department 
expects to be entitled in exchange for goods or services. Revenue is recorded and 
recognised in the accounting period in which the relevant performance obligations have been 
satisfied. Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows: 

Entry Fees: Admission charges for national parks and attractions. Revenue is recognised at 
a point in time.  

Camping: Hire fees for camp sites in national parks. Revenue is recognised over time with 
unearned revenue adjusted at year-end. 

Park passes: Park passes sold by the Department entitle customers to entry to national 
parks over a designated time period. Revenue is recognised over time with unearned revenue 
adjusted at year-end. 

Merchandise: Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets 
when the significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be 
measured reliably. 

Leases: Lease income from rental of land or facilities is recognised over the period of use 
under AASB 16 Leases. 

Other: Other User Charges includes T class licence revenue and E class licence revenue. T 
class licences represent fees to conduct commercial operations within parks managed under 
the Conservation and Land Management Act 1984. The licences are considered low value 
and the fees are recognised at a point in time. E class licence revenue are issued to 
commercial providers to operate in national park and are variable. E class licence revenue is 
recognised over time.  

Fees: Revenue is recognised in accordance with the satisfaction of performance obligations 
in accordance with the specific contract for service. Depending on the contract fees are 
recognised at a point in time or over time with reference to the stage of completion of the 
transaction. 

Interest: Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. 

Under a Net Appropriation Determination, the Department retains revenue from sale of goods, 
provision of services, interest earned, and other departmental revenue. 
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2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

4.2b) User charges by location/business unit 
Goldfields 10 17 
Kimberley 1,569 2,263 
Midwest 4,113 4,540 
Parks and Visitor Services(a) 821 854 
Pilbara 3,299 4,059 
South Coast 1,760 1,793 
South West 1,432 1,379 
Swan 4,797 5,160 
Warren 3,047 3,502 
Wheatbelt 111 90 

20,959 23,657 
(a) Parks and Visitor Services is a division which is primarily centrally located and operating
from Kensington, WA.

4.2c) Fees by sector 
State Government 15,212 15,358 
Private organisations 6,414 6,457 
Federal Government 543 413 
Local Government 375 35 

22,544 22,263 

4.3 Other revenue 

Mining compensation  7,653 6,818 
Insurance refunds(a) 223 263 
Forest and beach shack leases 1,000 677 
Other 1,526 1,280 
Plant fund expenditure recoup 22 183 
Communication sites 960 372 
Workers compensation payroll recoup(a) 688 386 
Publications  327 299 
Apiary sites 377 233 
Diesel fuel rebate 389 434 
Sale of minor assets 97 158 
Assets found during the period:  
-Buildings 618 466 
-Infrastructure 100 0 

13,980 11,569 

(a) Recoup of damage, repair costs and workers compensation from the Insurance
Commission and Riskcover fund.

Mining compensation: Compensation for land cleared to conduct mining activities on 
Department land. Revenue is variable consideration under AASB 16 leases. Compensation 
provided to the Department is based on the expected hectares of land to be cleared with 
adjustment for actual land cleared. Revenue is recognised on a systematic basis with revenue 
received in advance held in unearned revenue. 
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Forest and beach shack leases, communication sites and apiary sites: Lease income from 
the rental of accommodation, telecommunication towers and land sites are recognised over a 
period of time on a systematic basis. 

2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

4.4 Commonwealth grants and contributions 
Recurrent 2,255 1,260 

2,255 1,260 

The Department received revenue from the Commonwealth Government during the period in 
relation to 17 separate conservation projects. 

4.5 Other grants and contributions 
Capital  2,298 1,218 
Recurrent 18,016 18,017 

20,314 19,235 

The Department received revenue from a range of private and state granting entities in 2020 
in relation to 149 separate conservation projects. The state grants revenue amounted to 
$9.99 million (2019: $8.00 million). Any unspent funds remaining at the conclusion of 
individual projects are returned to the relevant granting entity. 

Until 30 June 2019 
Income from Commonwealth grants is recognised at fair value when the grant is receivable. 

From 1 July 2019 
Recurrent grants: Revenue from grant contracts that contain sufficently specific performance 
obligations are recognised over time or at a point in time when performance obligations are 
satisfied in line with AASB 15 Contracts with Customers. Where revenue is recognised over 
time revenue will be recognised in accordance with costs expended on the grant. Revenue 
and costs are allocated to specific purpose accounts that track the account balance of grants. 

Where grant contracts do not contain sufficiently specific performance obligations revenue is 
recognised when the Department is entitled to funding under AASB 1058.  

Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined 
and the services would have been purchased if not donated. 

Capital grants: Income is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received to the 
extent the obligations for asset acquisition or construction specified in the grant are satisfied. 
Unfulfilled oblgations are carried as unearned revenue. Capital grants for land purchases are 
recognised at a point in time, when the land is purchased. For assets acquired or constructed 
over time income is recognised in line with the capitalisation of costs. See note 6.6b) for the 
Department’s non-financial asset construction and acquisition liability. 
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5. Key assets
Assets the Department utilises for economic benefit or service potential

This section includes information regarding the key assets the Department utilises to gain
economic benefits or provide service potential. The section sets out both the key accounting
policies and financial information about the performance of these assets:

2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

4.6 Gains 
Net proceeds from disposal of non-current assets 
Plant, equipment and vehicles 965 1,088 
Buildings 25 0 
Trade-in 19 126 
Carrying amount of non-current assets disposed 
Plant, equipment and vehicles (505) (274)
Buildings (151) (174)
Retirement of Lease Asset and Liabilities 
Net gain/(loss) on retirement of lease asset and liabilities (11) 0
Net gain/(loss) 342 766 

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains 
arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets. 

Gains and losses on the disposal of non-current assets are presented by deducting from the 
proceeds on disposal the carrying amount of the asset and related selling expenses. Gains and 
losses are recognised as profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income (from the 
proceeds of sale). 

Restated 
2020 2019 

($000) ($000) 
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 5.1 2,626,538 2,837,901 
Right-of-use assets 5.2 10,154 0 
Total key assets 2,636,692 2,837,901 
Depreciation and impairment 5.3 26,252 22,358 
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(a) The Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage (DPLH) is the only Department with the power to sell Crown land. The land is transferred to DPLH
for sale and the Department accounts for the transfer as a distribution to owner.

(b) Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Where an asset measured at cost is written-down to recoverable
amount, an impairment loss is recognised as profit or loss. Where a previously revalued asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is
recognised as a revaluation decrement in other comprehensive income.

(c) Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 8.3.
(d) The depreciation and revaluation increment for buildings was restated for the error set out in note 9.2. Depreciation and the revaluation of buildings

was reduced by $4.7 million in the restated presentation of Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment.

5.1(a) Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 

Year ended 30 June 2019 Land 
($000) 

Buildings 
($000) 

Assets 
under 

construction 
($000) 

Plant, 
equipment 

($000) 
Vehicles 

($000) 
Infrastructure 

($000) 

Works of 
art 

($000) 
Total 

($000) 
1 July 2018 
Gross carrying amount 2,809,854 112,482 45,797 154,570 39,531 76,414 555 3,239,203 
Accumulated depreciation 0 0 0 (85,184) (22,234) (46,684) 0 (154,102) 
Accumulated impairment loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Carrying amount at start of 
period 

2,809,854 112,482 45,797 69,386 17,297 29,730 555 3,085,101 

Additions 3,742 1,523 20,144 3,750 2,761 1,629 14 33,563 
Transfers(a) 35 4,308 (22,089) 5,874 1,444 10,234 0 (194) 
Assets not previously identified 0 466 0 0 0 0 0 466 
Other disposals 0 (174) 0 (186) (88) 0 0 (448) 
Revaluation 
increments/(decrements(c,d) (258,317) 88 0 0 0 0 0 (258,229) 

Impairment losses(b)  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Depreciation(d) 0 (6,217) 0 (9,236) (2,980) (3,925) 0 (22,358) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 
2019 2,555,314 112,476 43,852 69,588 18,434 37,668 569 2,837,901 
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5.1(a) Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment (cont.) 

Year ended 30 June 2020 Land 
($000) 

Buildings 
($000) 

Assets 
under 

construction 
($000) 

Plant, 
equipment 

($000) 
Vehicles 

($000) 
Infrastructure 

($000) 

Works of 
art 

($000) 
Total 

($000) 
1 July 2019 
Gross carrying amount 2,555,314 112,476 43,852 160,910 41,001 89,318 569 3,003,440 
Accumulated depreciation 0 0 0 (91,322) (22,567) (51,650) 0 (165,539) 
Accumulated impairment loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Carrying amount at start of 
period 

2,555,314 112,476 43,852 69,588 18,434 37,668 569 2,837,901 

Additions 4,069 1,509 16,475 3,755 2,862 7,790 0 36,460 
Transfers(a) 20,342 3,641 0 0 0 0 0 23,983 
Transfers between categories 0 3,523 (28,376) 11,944 1,662 11,007 93 (147) 
Assets not previously identified 0 618 0 0 0 100 0 718 
Assets classified as held for 
sale 0 0 0 (36) (8) 0 0 (44) 

Other disposals 0 (151) 0 (204) (201) 0 0 (556) 
Revaluation 
increments/(decrements)(c) (251,400) 1,105 0 0 0 0 0 (250,295) 

Impairment losses(b)  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Depreciation 0 (6,242) 0 (8,239) (3,384) (3,617) 0 (21,482) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 
2020 2,328,325 116,479 31,951 76,808 19,365 52,948 662 2,626,538 

Gross carrying amount 2,328,325 116,479 31,951 174,567 43,403 108,112 662 2,803,499 
Accumulated depreciation 0 0 0 (97,759) (24,038) (55,164) 0 (176,961) 
Accumulated Impairment loss 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
(a) The Department received $23.98 million of assets in 2019-20 and $0.40 million of assets in 2018-19 from other agencies which has been accounted

as contributed equity. The Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage (DPLH) is the only Department with the power to sell Crown land. The Land
is transferred to DPLH for sale and the Department accounts for the transfer as a distribution to owner.

(b) Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Where an asset measured at cost is written-down to recoverable amount, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit and loss. Where a previously revalued asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a
revaluation decrement in other comprehensive income.

(c) Information on fair value measurement is provided in Note 8.3.
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Initial recognition 

Items of property, plant and equipment, costing $5,000 or more are measured initially at cost. 
Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is valued at its fair value at the date 
of acquisition. Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing less than $5,000 
are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

Asset transferred as part of a machinery of government change are transferred at their fair value. 

Subsequent measurement 

Subsequent to initial recognition of an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement 
of: 

• land, and

• buildings.

Land is carried at fair value.

Buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses.  

All other property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairment losses.  

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority (Valuations and Property Analytics) and recognised annually to ensure that 
the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the reporting 
period.   

Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2019 by the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority (Valuations and Property Analytics). The valuations were performed during the year 
ended 30 June 2020 and recognised at 30 June 2020. In undertaking the revaluation, fair value 
was determined by reference to market values for land: $197,195,500 (2019: $194,512,100) and 
buildings: $2,360,000 (2019: $2,308,500). For the remaining balance, fair value of buildings was 
determined on the basis of current replacement cost and fair value of land was determined on the 
basis of comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land). 

Loss on revaluation of assets: A revaluation decrement of $251.40 million was recognised at 
30 June 2020 (2019: $106.42 million). The decrement was recorded in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income as a loss on revaluation of land as there is no remaining asset revaluation 
balance for land. The Department holds a significant amount of land parcels that are spread 
across the state. Market conditions vary depending on the region but, generally, there was  a 
general reduction in the property values throughout the states with most areas featuring a 10% 
to 15% reduction, which has been factored into the valuation. In future financial periods increases 
in the value of land resulting from the revaluation process will be reported as a gain in the 
statement of comprehensive income to the extent it reverses previously recognised decrements 
which is $357.82 million. 

Revaluation model: 

1. Fair Value where market-based evidence is available:

The fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current market values 
determined by reference to recent market transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference 
to recent market transactions the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross 
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount. 

2. Fair value in the absence of market-based evidence:

Buildings are specialised or, where land is restricted: Fair value of land and buildings is 
determined on the basis of existing use.  
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Existing use buildings: Fair value is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the 
remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the current replacement cost. 
Where the fair value of buildings is determined on the current replacement cost basis, the 
accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the 
net amount restated to the revalued amount. 

Restricted use land: Fair value is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with 
similar approximate utility (high restricted use land) or market value of comparable unrestricted 
land (low restricted use land). 

The most significant assumptions and adjustments in estimating fair value are made in assessing 
whether to apply the existing use basis to asset in determining estimated economic life. 
Professional judgment by the valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear 
distinction between market type assets and existing use assets. 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale 

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying 
amount or fair value less costs to sell, and are disclosed separately from other assets in the 
Statement of Financial Position. Assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or 
amortised. 

Most Crown land holdings are vested in Conservation and Parks Commission by the Government. 
Crown land holdings vested in the Conservation and Parks Commission are included as assets 
of the Department as they are under the operational control of the Department. The Department 
of Planning, Lands and Heritage (DPLH) is the only Department with the power to sell Crown land. 
The Conservation and Parks Commission transfers Crown land and any attaching buildings to 
DPLH when the land becomes available for sale. 
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5.2 Right-of-use assets 

Year ended 30 June 2020 Land 
($000) 

Buildings 
($000) 

Accommodation(b)

($000 
Plant, equipment 

($000) 
Vehicles(a)

($000) 
Total 

($000) 
At 1 July 2019 
Recognition of right-of-use 
assets on initial application 
of AASB 16 

0 5 1,071 59 8,653 9,788 

Carrying amount at start 
of period 0 5 1,071 59 8,653 9,788 

Additions 15 154 1,223 29 3,773 5,194 
Disposals 0 0 (11) 0 (47) (58)
Depreciation (1) (31) (1,056) (18) (3,664) (4,770)
Carrying amount at 30 
June 2020 14 128 1,227 70 8,715 10,154 

Gross carrying amount 15 159 2,240 88 12,108 14,610 
Accumulated depreciation (1) (31) (1,013) (18) (3,393) (4,456) 

(a) Right of use assets represent leases with State Fleet.
(b) In 2020 $0.57 million (carrying amount) right of use assets from Department of Communities.

The Department’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for: 

The Department has leases for vehicles, office and residential accommodation. 

The Department has also entered into several Memorandum of Understanding Agreements (MOUs) with the Department of Finance for the leasing of 
office accommodation. These are not recognised under AASB 16 because of substitution rights held by the Department of Finance and are accounted 
for as an expense as incurred.  

Up to 30 June 2019, the Department classified leases as either finance leases or operating leases. From 1 July 2019, the Department recognises 
leases as right-of-use assets and associated liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position. The corresponding lease liabilities in relation to these 
right-of-use assets have been disclosed in note 7.1. 
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Initial Recognition 

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost including the following: 

• The amount of initial measurement of lease liability,
• Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives

received,
• Any initial direct costs, and
• Restoration costs, including dismantling and removing the underlying asset.

This includes all leased assets other than investment property ROU assets, which are measured 
in accordance with AASB 140 ‘Investment Property’. 

The Department has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-
term leases (with a lease term of 12 months or less) and low value leases (with an underlying 
value of $5,000 or less). Lease payments associated with these leases are expensed over a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. 

Subsequent Measurement 

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement of right-of-use assets, requiring the asset 
to be carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses and 
adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liability. 

2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

The following amounts relating to leases have been recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

5.2(a) Lease disclosures 
Interest expense  262 0 
Short-term leases (included in other expenditure and 
employee benefits expenditure)(b) 19,959 0 
Low-value  leases (included in other expenditure) 35 0 
Income from subleasing right-of-use assets (601) 0
Total amount recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income (net) 19,655 0 
Total lease cash outflow(a) 24,571 0 
(a) Total lease cash outflow includes short-term leases, low-value leases and leases that
meet the AASB 16 Leases criteria.
(b) Low-value leases included in employee benefits expenditure relates to periodic
Government Regional Officer Housing accommodation utilised by Department staff. $13.2
million in short-term leases relate to aircraft hire and aircraft standby charges.
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Finite useful lives 
All infrastructure, property, plant and equipment having a limited useful life are systematically 
depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their 
future economic benefits. The exceptions to this rule include items under operating leases, assets 
held for sale, land and investment properties. 

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight-line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s 
value, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful life. Typical estimated useful 
lives for the different asset classes for current and prior years are included in the table below: 

Asset Useful life: years 

Buildings 18-20

Plant and equipment, office 
equipment, furniture, communication, 
fire protection equipment, aircraft, 
vessels and computer equipment 

4-20

Vehicles 5-14

Infrastructure and recreation and 
tourism facilities 

10-33

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end 
of each annual reporting period, and adjustments made where appropriate.  

Land and works of art, which are considered to have an indefinite life, are not depreciated. 
Depreciation is not recognised in respect of these assets because their service potential has 
not, in any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period. 

Restated 
2020 2019 

($000) ($000) 
5.3 Depreciation and impairment   
Property, plant and equipment 
Plant, equipment  8,239 9,236 
Vehicles 3,384 2,980 
Buildings 6,242 6,217 
Infrastructure 3,617 3,925 
Total depreciation property,plant and equipment 21,482 22,358 

Right-of-use assets 
Vehicles 3,664 0 
Accommodation 1,056 0 
Buildings 31 0 
Plant & equipment 18 0 
Land 1 0 
Total depreciation for right-of-use assets 4,770 0 

Total depreciation for the period 26,252 22,358 

As at 30 June 2020 there were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment 
or infrastructure or lease assets. 

All surplus assets at 30 June 2020 have either been classified as assets held for sale or have 
been written-off. 
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Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated on a straight line basis over the shorter of the 
asset's useful life and the lease term. If the Department is reasonably certain to exercise a 
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life. 

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Department at the end of the lease term or the 
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated 
useful life of the asset.  

Impairment 
Non-financial assets, including items of property, plant and equipment, are tested for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Where there is an indication of 
impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the 
carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount 
and an impairment loss is recognised 

Where an asset measured at cost is written down to its recoverable amount, an impairment loss 
is recognised through profit or loss.  

Where a previously revalued asset is written down to its recoverable amount, the loss is 
recognised as a revaluation decrement through other comprehensive income.  

As the Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised asset has been identified as a 
surplus asset, the recoverable amount of regularly revalued specialised assets is anticipated to 
be materially the same as fair value. 

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be 
increased to its recoverable amount. However, this reversal shall not increase the asset’s carrying 
amount above what would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised in prior years. 

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is 
materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change 
in useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated 
depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future 
economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from declining replacement costs. 

Right-of-use assets are tested for impairment when an indication of impairment is identified. 
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6. Other assets and liabilities
This section sets out those assets and liabilities that arose from the Department’s controlled
operations and includes other assets utilised for economic benefits and liabilities incurred during
normal operations:

Notes 2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

Inventories 6.1 1,581 857 
Receivables 6.2 13,756 12,161 
Amounts receivable for services 6.3 218,430 192,983 
Other assets 6.4 2,935 3,029 
Payables 6.5 (4,414) (3,120) 
Other liabilities 6.6 (16,387) (4,781) 

6.1 Inventories   
Inventories held for resale: 
Souvenirs  1,153 346 
Inventories held for distribution: 
Publications  428 511 
Total inventories 1,581 857 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned by 
the method most appropriate for each particular class of inventory, with the majority being 
measured on a first in first out basis.  

Publications held for distribution are measured at cost. 

6.2 Receivables   
Current 
Trade receivables(b) 7,446 9,548 
Allowance for impairment of receivables (129) (74)
GST receivable 1,407 1,668 
Accrued revenue(a) 2,624 1,019 
Total current receivables 11,348 12,161 
Non-current 
Accrued revenue(a) 2,408 0 
Total non-current receivables 2,408 0 
Total receivables 13,756 12,161 

(a) Accrued revenue current and non-current includes financial assets linked to asset
construction obligations disclosed in other current liabilities at note 6.6b). The opening balance
was $6.75 million at the initial application of AASB 1058 at 1st July 2019 and the closing balance
was $4.69 million.

(b) Trade receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less any allowances for
uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is
due for settlement within 30 days.

As at 30 June 2020 receivables from other government related entities amounted to $4.41 
million (2019: $5.93 million). 
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Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Department becomes obliged to make 
future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent 
to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.  

2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

6.2.1 Movement in the allowance for impairment of 
trade receivables 

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for 
impairment of trade receivables: 
Opening balance 74 30 
Expected credit losses expense 66 56 
Amounts written off during the period (11) (12)
Balance at end of period 129 74 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period for trade receivables is 
the carrying amount of the asset inclusive of any allowance for impairment as shown in the 
table at Note 8.1(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’. 

The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements for trade 
receivables. 

6.3 Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account) 
Current 9,782 8,717 
Non-current 208,648 184,266 
Balance at end of period 218,430 192,983 

Amounts receivable for services represent the non-cash component of service 
appropriations. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of 
leave liability.  

Amounts receivable for services are considered not impaired (i.e. there is no expected credit 
loss of the holding accounts). 

6.4 Other assets 
Current 
Prepayments 2,935 3,029 
Total current 2,935 3,029 

Prepayments represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services or that part of 
expenditure made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period. 

6.5 Payables 
Current 
Trade payables 540 183 
Accrued expenses 1,995 2,241 
Accrued salaries 1,709 544 
Accrued superannuation 75 50 
Parental payment 95 102 
Total current 4,414 3,120 
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Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the reporting period. 
Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the reporting period end. The Department 
considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value. 

The accrued salaries suspense account (See Note 7.3.1 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) 
consists of amounts paid annually, from Department appropriations for salaries expense, into a 
Treasury suspense account to meet the additional cash outflow for employee salary payments in 
reporting periods with 27 pay days instead of the normal 26. No interest is received on this 
account. 

Unearned revenue includes performance obligations that are yet to be satisfied as at the end of 
the reporting period under AASB 15 Contracts with Customers. For the Department this includes 
grant or funding agreements that are non-capital in nature which feature performance obligations 
that impact the recognition and timing of revenue. Unearned revenue also includes mining 
compensation for land cleared as variable consideration under AASB 16 Leases.    

Asset construction/acquisition obligations represent the Department’s obligation to acquire 
or construct non-financial assets that are transferred to the Department through grant or funding 
agreements. The obligation is satisfied as the asset is constructed or as it is purchased, 
depending on the asset type. For assets constructed over a period of time income is recognised 
and the obligation is reduced in line with the capitalisation of costs assigned to the specific job for 
the grant agreement. Job codes have been historically setup by the Department for specific 
purpose accounts and utilised to track costs and income. Obligations satisfied at a point in time, 
for the Department, typically relate to land purchases and it is assumed there is no remaining 
obligation after purchase. 

2020 2019 
Note ($000) ($000) 

6.6 Other liabilities 

Current 
Unearned revenue 6.6a) 9,752 4,781 
Asset construction/acquisition obligation 6.6b) 1,260 0 
Total current 11,012 4,781 
Non-current 
Unearned revenue 6.6a) 4,877 0 
Asset construction/acquisition obligation 6.6b) 498 0 
Total non-current 5,375 0 
Balance at end of period 16,387 4,781 

6.6a) Unearned revenue 

Opening balance(a) 14,899 0 
Additions 6,914 0 
Income recognised during the current financial year (7,184) 0 
Closing balance 14,629 0 

6.6b) Asset construction/acquisition obligation 
Opening balance(a) 936 0 
Additions 1,164 0 
Income recognised during the current financial year(b) (342) 0
Closing balance 1,758 0 
(a) The effect of the application of AASB 1058 is disclosed at note 9.1.1.
(b) Income is disclosed as part of capital grants at note 4.4 and 4.5.
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7. Financing
This section sets out the material balances and disclosures associated with the financing and
cashflows of the Department.

Notes 

Lease liabilities 7.1 
Finance costs 7.2 
Cash and cash equivalents 7.3 
Reconciliation of cash 7.3.1 
Reconciliation of operating activities 7.3.2 
Commitments 7.4 
Non-cancellable operating lease commitments 7.4.1 
Capital commitments 7.4.2 
Other expenditure commitments 7.4.3 

2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

7.1 Lease liabilities 
Current 3,710 0 
Non-current 6,403 0 

10,113 0 

The Department measures a lease liability, at the commencement date, at the present value 
of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted 
using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the 
Department uses the incremental borrowing rate provided by Western Australia Treasury 
Corporation.  

Lease payments included by the Department as part of the present value calculation of lease 
liability include:  

• Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

• Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate initially measured using
the index or rate as at the commencement date;

• Amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
• The exercise price of purchase options (where these are reasonably certain to be

exercised);
• Payments for penalties for terminating a lease, where the lease term reflects the

Department exercising an option to terminate the lease.

The interest on the lease liability is recognised in profit or loss over the lease term so as to 
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each 
period. Lease liabilities do not include any future changes in variable lease payments (that 
depend on an index or rate) until they take effect, in which case the lease liability is 
reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.  

Periods covered by extension or termination options are only included in the lease term by the 
Department if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated). Variable 
lease payments, not included in the measurement of lease liability, that are dependant on 
sales are recognised by the Department in profit or loss in the period in which the condition 
that triggers those payment occurs.  

When a lease contract contains a lease component and a non-lease component, and if the 
non-lease component is material, the Department accounts for the amount of the non-lease 
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component separately, where practicable, from the lease amount by applying other applicable 
Standards. Immaterial non-lease component(s) may be included in the lease amount, and 
accounted for as a single lease, by asset class. 

This section should be read in conjunction with note 5.2. 

Subsequent measurement 
Lease liabilities are measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the 
lease liabilities; reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; and 
remeasuring the carrying amount at amortised cost, subject to adjustments to reflect any 
reassessment or lease modifications. 

The Department’s leasing activities 
The Department’s light vehicle fleet is leased through the Department of Finance and 
represents a liability of $8.71 million in 2020. Accommodation for regional staff is leased 
through a mixture of private realtors and Government Regional Officer Housing (GROH) 
properties leased from private real estate agencies. Accommodation leased through GROH 
represented a liability of $0.57 million in 2020. Leases are also arranged for office space, 
computer equipment and other plant and equipment. 

Short-term and low-value leases 
Payments associated with short-term and low-value leases are recognised as an expense in 
the statement of comprehensive income. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 
months or less. Low-value assets are assets that are individually valued less than $5,000 at 
cost. This excludes leases with another wholly-owned public sector entity lessor agency. 
These expenses are included within note 3.3 Other Expenditure. 

Potential future cash outflow exposure for leases 
The Department’s material lease liabilities are with the Department of Finance for light fleet 
vehicles. The potential exposure for future cash outflows for extension options and 
termination options not taken into account for lease liabilities is minimal. 

Leases with below market terms and conditions 
The Department has elected to measure leases at below market terms and conditions at cost. 
Qualitative information is provided for the Department peppercorn leases as the leases 
individually do not meet the the material threshold for disclosure. 

Below Market Leases – Land  
The Department has a below market lease for land as part of a joint management 
arrangement. 

Below Market Leases – Airport Hangars 
The Department has several below market leases for land and premises for aircraft and 
operations typically used for firefighting. 

2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

7.2 Finance costs 
Lease interest expense 262 0 
Finance costs expensed 262 0 
‘Finance cost’ includes the interest component of lease liability repayments, and the increase 
in financial liabilities and non-employee provisions due to the unwinding of discounts to reflect 
the passage of time.  
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2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

7.3 Cash and cash equivalents 
7.3.1 Reconciliation of cash 
Current 
Cash and cash equivalents 16,437 13,425 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
– Cash amounts in Special Purpose account(a) 63,787 60,169 

80,224 73,594 

Non-Current 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
– Accrued salaries suspense account(b) 2,367 1,805 

2,367 1,805 
Balance at end of period 82,591 75,399 

(a) Cash held in the account is to fund the three special purpose accounts disclosed at note 9.6
‘Special Purpose Accounts’ and a range of specific purpose accounts.

(b) Funds held in the suspense account for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a reporting
period that occurs every 11th year. This account is classified as non-current for 10 out of
11 years.

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash 
and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and 
which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.  

7.3.2 Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash 
flows provided by/(used in) operating activities 

Restated 
2020 2019 

Notes ($000) ($000) 
Net cost of services (514,952) (350,267) 

Non-cash items 
Loss on revaluation of land 5.1 251,400 106,416 
Depreciation expense 5.3 26,252 22,358 
Services received free of charge 4.1 1,384 2,060 
Adjustments for other non cash items (717) (490)
(Gain)/Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 4.6 (342) (766)

(Increase)/decrease in assets 
Current receivables(a) 2,101 (3,694) 
Inventories (723) 379
Other current assets 3,674 3,979 

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities 
Current payables and other current liabilities(a)  888 1,350 
Provisions 3,488 444 
Net GST receipts/(payments)(b) 260 89 
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (227,287) (218,142) 
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(a) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and
the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not
included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.

(b) This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.

2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

7.4 Commitments 
7.4.1 Non-cancellable operating lease commitments 
Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as 
follows: 
Within 1 year 0 4,917 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 0 8,784 
Later than 5 years 0 2,299 
Balance at end of period 0 16,000 

From 1 July 2019 the Department has recognised right-of-use assets and corresponding lease 
liability for these leases, excluding short term and low-value leases. Refer to note 7.1. 

The Department’s fleet leases with the Department of Finance accounts for $9.16 million of the 
non-cancellable operating lease commitments for 2019.  The lease payments are fixed for the 
term of the lease and are payable monthly. The Department’s accommodation leases with the 
Department of Finance accounts for $2.03 million for 2019. The lease term varies depending 
on the vehicle.  

 7.4.2 Capital commitments 
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital 
expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the 
financial statements, are payable as follows: 

Within 1 year 2,188 1,305 
2,188 1,305 

The totals presented for capital commitments are GST inclusive. 

7.4.3 Other expenditure commitments 
Other expenditure commitments, being contracts 
pertaining to bushfire suppression and prescribed burning 
at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as 
liabilities, are payable as follows: 
Within 1 year 12,729 7,988 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 2,353 1,904 

15,082 9,892 
The totals presented for capital commitments are GST inclusive. 
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8. Risks and contingencies
This note sets out the key risk management policies and measurement techniques of the
Department.

8.1 Financial risk management 

Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and 
cash equivalents, receivables and payables. The Department has limited exposure to financial 
risks. The Department’s overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks 
identified below. 

(a) Summary of risks and risk management

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department’s receivables defaulting on their 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Department. 

Credit risk associated with the Department’s financial assets is minimal because the main 
receivable is the amounts receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than 
Government, the Department trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The 
Department has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to 
customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on 
an ongoing basis with the result that the Department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. Debt will 
be written-off against the allowance account when it is improbable or uneconomical to recover 
the debt. At the end of the reporting period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall 
due. 

The Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. 

The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdown of 
appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to 
meet its commitments. 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest 
rates will affect the Department’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 
Department does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks 
(for example, equity securities or commodity prices changes). The Department’s exposure to 
market risk for changes in interest rates relate primarily to the short-term deposits and cash and 
cash equivalents. 

Other than as detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis table at Note 8.1(e), the Department 
is not exposed to interest rate risk as it has no borrowings. 

Notes 

Financial risk management 8.1 
Contingent assets and liabilities 8.2 
Contingent liabilities 8.2.1 
Fair value measurements 8.3 
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(b) Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are:

2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 16,437 13,425 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 66,154 61,974 
Financial assets at amortised cost(a) 228,371 203,476 
Total financial assets 310,962 278,875 

Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 14,527 3,120 
Total financial liability 14,527 3,120 

(a) The amount of financial assets at amortised cost excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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(c) Credit risk exposure
The following table details the credit risk exposure on the Department’s trade receivables using a provision matrix.

Days past due 
 Total Current <30 days 31-60 days 61-90 days >91 days

($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000)
30 June 2020 
Expected credit loss rate 0.66% 1.21% 3.20% 6.82% 7.08% 
Estimated total gross carrying amount at default 7,446 5,334 514 649 108 841 
Expected credit losses 129 35 6 21 7 60 

30 June 2019 
Expected credit loss rate 0.01% 0.54% 2.29% 4.00% 4.50% 
Estimated total gross carrying amount at default 9,548 6,705 1,014 647 36 1,146 
Expected credit losses 74 1 5 15 1 52 
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(d) Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

The following table details the Department’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section includes 
interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item. 

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities 
Interest rate exposure Maturity dates 

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest 

rate 
Carrying 
amount 

Fixed 
interest 

rate 

Variable 
interest 

rate 

Non-
interest 
bearing 

Nominal 
amount 

Up to 
1 month 

1-3
months 

3 months 
to 1 year 1-5 years

More 
than 

5 years 
% ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) 

2020 
Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 0.92 16,437 0 16,437 0 16,437 16,437 0 0 0 0 
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 0.92 66,154 0 66,154 0 66,154 66,154 0 0 0 0 
Receivables(a) 9,941 0 0 9,941 9,941 9,941 0 0 0 0 
Amounts receivable for 
services 218,430 0 0 218,430 218,430 927 1,263 7,619 44,360 164,288 

310,962 0 82,591 228,371 310,962 93,459 1,263 7,619 44,360 164,288 

Financial liabilities 
Payables 4,414 0 0 4,414 4,414 4,414 0 0 0 0 
Lease liabilities 2.77 10,113 10,113 0 0 10,113 358 686 2,666 6,278 125 

14,527 10,113 0 4,414 14,527 4,772 686 2,666 6,278 125 
(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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(d) Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure (cont.)

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities 
Interest rate exposure Maturity dates 

Weighted 
average 
effective 
interest 

rate 
Carrying 
amount 

Fixed 
interest 

rate 

Variable 
interest 

rate 

Non-
interest 
bearing 

Nominal 
amount 

Up to 
1 month 

1-3
months 

3 months 
to 1 year 1-5 years

More 
than 

5 years 
% ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) 

2019 
Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 2.08 13,425 0 13,425 0 13,425 13,425 0 0 0 0 
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 2.08 61,974 0 61,974 0 61,974 61,974 0 0 0 0 
Receivables(a) 10,493 0 0 10,493 10,493 10,493 0 0 0 0 
Amounts receivable for 
services 192,983 0 0 192,983 192,983 0 0 8,717 42,842 141,424 

278,875 0 75,399 203,476 278,875 85,892 0 8,717 42,842 141,424 

Financial liabilities 
Payables 3,120 0 0 3,120 3,120 3,120 0 0 0 0 

3,120 0 0 3,120 3,120 3,120 0 0 0 0 
(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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8.2 Contingent assets and liabilities 

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of financial 
position but are disclosed and, if quantifiable, are measured at the best estimate. Contingent 
assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable respectively. 

The Department has nil contingent assets (2019: nil contingent assets). 

8.2.1 Contingent liabilities 

The following contingent liabilities are excluded from the liabilities included in the financial 
statements: 

Litigation and arbitration in progress 

The Department has 4 litigation claims against it amounting to $1,121,784 covered by the 
Department’s general liability insurance policy. If all claims are successful, it may only affect the 
Department’s financial position to the value of $163,139 representing the excess payable under 
the Department’s general liability insurance policy. The Department has denied liability and any 
legal claim will be defended.  

Native title determinations 

The Department’s land is subject to a number of native title determinations. The financial effect 
of these native title determinations and any contingent compensation liability has not been 
determined and cannot be estimated at this time.  

Contaminated sites 

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Department is required to report known and 
suspected contaminated sites to the Department of Water and Environmental Regulation 

(e) Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Department’s
financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period
and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is
held constant throughout the reporting period.

-100 basis points +100 basis points
Carrying 
amount 

($000) 
Surplus 

($000) 
Equity 
($000) 

Surplus 
($000) 

Equity 
($000) 

2020 
Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 16,437 (164) (164) 164 164 
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 66,154 (662) (662) 662 662 
Total increase/(decrease) (826) (826) 826 826 

-100 basis points +100 basis points
Carrying 
amount 

($000) 
Surplus 

($000) 
Equity 
($000) 

Surplus 
($000) 

Equity 
($000) 

2019 
Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 13,425 (134) (134) 134 134 
Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 61,974 (619) (619) 619 619 
Total increase/(decrease) (753) (753) 753 753 
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(DWER). In accordance with the Act DWER classifies these sites based on the risk to human 
health, the environment and environmental values. Where sites are classified as contaminated – 
remediation required or possibly contaminated – investigation required, the Department may have 
a liability in respect of investigation or remediation expenses. 

The Department has 8 sites classified as contaminated – remediation required, 4 sites classified 
as contaminated – restricted use and 78 sites classified as possibly contaminated - investigation 
required. It is not practicable to estimate the potential financial effect or to identify the uncertainties 
relating to the amount or timing of any outflows in relation to these sites. 

Long service leave entitlements for casual employees 

Casual employees are entitled to long service leave under the Long Service Leave Act 1958 at a 
minimum, where it is not covered by a specific industry award. Under the Act casual employees 
are entitled to 82/3 weeks paid leave after 10 years of continuous service. Long service leave 
entitlements for casual employees have not been recognised as at 30 June 2020 due to the 
complexity and reliability of calculating the entitlement and interpreting the legislation. The term 
of each employee’s employment requires analysis to ensure the period was continuous and 
eligible for counting towards their long service leave entitlement. It is disclosed as a contingent 
liability as a sufficiently reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation cannot be made as at 30 
June 2020. 

8.3 Fair value measurement 

Assets measured at fair 
value: 
2020 

Level 1 
($000) 

Level 2 
($000) 

Level 3 
($000) 

Fair value 
at end of 

period 
($000) 

Land (Note 5.1) 0 197,196 2,131,129 2,328,325 
Buildings (Note 5.1) 0 2,360 114,119 116,479 

0 199,556 2,245,248 2,444,804 

Assets measured at fair 
value: 
Restated 2019 

Level 1 
($000) 

Level 2 
($000) 

Level 3 
($000) 

Fair Value 
at end of 

period 
($000) 

Land (Note 5.1) 0 194,512 2,360,802 2,555,314 
Buildings (Note 5.1) 0 2,309 110,167 112,476 

0 196,821 2,470,969 2,667,790 

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the current and previous periods. 

Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values 

Level 2 fair values of land and buildings (office accommodation) are derived using the market 
approach. Market evidence of sales prices of comparable land and buildings (office 
accommodation) in close proximity is used to determine price per square metre. 

Non-current assets held for sale have been written down to fair value less costs to sell. Fair 
value has been determined by reference to market evidence of sales prices of comparable 
assets. 
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Valuation processes 

There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period. 

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or change in 
circumstances that caused the transfer. Transfers are generally limited to assets newly classified 
as non-current assets held for sale as Treasurer's instructions require valuations of land and 
buildings to be categorised within Level 3 where the valuations will utilise significant Level 3 inputs 
on a recurring basis. 

Land (Level 3 fair values) 

Fair value for restricted use land is based on comparison with market evidence for land with low 
level utility (high restricted use land). The relevant comparators of land with low level utility is 
selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuations and Property 
Analytics) and represents the application of a significant Level 3 input in this valuation 
methodology. The fair value measurement is sensitive to values of comparator land, with higher 
values of comparator land correlating with higher estimated fair values of land. 

Buildings (Level 3 fair values) 

Fair value for existing use specialised buildings is determined by reference to the cost of replacing 
the remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the current replacement cost. 
Current replacement cost is generally determined by reference to the market observable 
replacement cost of a substitute asset of comparable utility and the gross project size 

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) 

 2020  
Land 

($000) 
Buildings 

($000) 
Fair Value at start of period 2,360,802 110,167 
Additions 24,410 9,291 
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised 
in Profit or Loss (254,083) 0 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised 
in Other Comprehensive Income 0 918 

Transfers from/(to) Level 2 0 0 
Disposals 0 (151) 
Depreciation Expense 0 (6,106) 
Fair Value at end of period 2,131,129 114,119 
Total gains or losses for the period included in 
profit or loss, under ‘Other Gains’ 

 Restated 2019 
Land 

($000) 
Buildings 

($000) 
Fair Value at start of period 2,614,705 110,356 
Additions 3,777 6,297 
Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised 
in Profit or Loss (106,416) 0 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised 
in Other Comprehensive Income (151,264) (229) 

Transfers from/(to) Level 2 0 0 
Disposals 0 (174) 
Depreciation Expense 0 (6,083) 
Fair Value at end of period 2,360,802 110,167 
Total gains or losses for the period included in 
profit or loss, under ‘Other Gains’ 
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specifications, adjusted for obsolescence. Obsolescence encompasses physical deterioration, 
functional (technological) obsolescence and economic (external) obsolescence.  

Valuation using current replacement cost utilises the significant Level 3 input, consumed 
economic benefit/obsolescence of asset which is estimated by the Western Australian Land 
Information Authority (Valuations and Property Analytics). The fair value measurement is 
sensitive to the estimate of consumption/obsolescence, with higher values of the estimate 
correlating with lower estimated fair values of buildings. 

Basis of valuation 

In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some non-financial 
assets, these assets are valued at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on an existing use basis. 
The existing use basis recognises that restrictions or limitations have been placed on their use 
and disposal when they are not determined to be surplus to requirements. These restrictions are 
imposed by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a specific community service. 

9. Other disclosures
This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or other
pronouncements, for the understanding of this financial report.

Notes 

Impact of Australian standards 9.1 
Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards 9.1.1 
AASB 15 Revenue from Contract with Customers and AASB 
1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities 9.1.1a) 
AASB 16 Leases 9.1.1b) 
Future impact of Australian standards issued not yet operative 9.1.2 
Correction of prior period errors 9.2 
Key management personnel 9.3 
Related party transactions 9.4 
Affiliated bodies 9.5 
Special purpose accounts 9.6 
Remuneration of auditors 9.7 
Equity 9.8 
Supplementary financial information 9.9 
Explanatory statement (Controlled Operations) 9.10 
Statement of comprehensive income variances 9.10.1 
Statement of financial position variances 9.10.2 
Statement of cash flows variances 9.10.3 
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9.1 Impact of Australian standards 

9.1.1 Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards 

9.1.1a) AASB 15 Revenue from Contract with Customers and AASB 1058 Income of Not-
for-Profit Entities 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers replaces AASB 118 Revenue and AASB 111 
Construction Contracts for annual reporting periods on or after 1 January 2019. Under the new 
model, an entity shall recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation 
by transferring a promised good or service and is based upon the transfer of control rather than 
transfer of risks and rewards. 

AASB15 focuses on providing sufficient information to the users of financial statements about the 
nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the contracts with 
customers. Revenue is recognised by applying the following five steps: 

• Identifying contracts with customers

• Identifying separate performance obligations

• Determining the transaction price of the contract

• Allocating the transaction price to each of the performance obligations

• Recognising revenue as each performance obligation is satisfied.

Revenue is recognised either over time or at a point in time. Any distinct goods or services are 
separately identified and any discounts or rebates in the contract price are allocated to the 
separate elements. 

In addition, the Department derives income from appropriations which are recognised under 
AASB 1058. AASB 1058 is applied to Not-for-Profit Entities for recognising income that is not 
revenue from contracts with customers. Timing of income recognition under AASB 1058 depends 
on whether such a transaction gives rise to a liability or other performance obligation (a promise 
to transfer a good or service), or a contribution by owners, related to an asset (such as cash or 
another asset) recognised by the Department. 

The Department adopts the modified retrospective approach on transition to AASB 15 and AASB 
1058. No comparative information is restated under this approach, and the Department 
recognises the cumulative effect of initially applying the Standard as an adjustment to the opening 
balance of accumulated surplus/(deficit) at the date of initial application (1 July 2019). 

Under this transition method, the Department elects not to apply the Standard retrospectively to 
contracts and transactions that are not completed contracts at the date of initial application. In 
respect of not-for-profit entities a completed contract is a contract where all revenue has been 
recognised in accordance with AASB 1004 Contributions. 

Refer to Note 4.2, 4.3, 4.4 and 4.5 for the revenue and income accounting policies adopted from 
1 July 2019. 

The financial statement line items impacted by the adoption of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 are 
disclosed below. The current year financial amount is compared with what the total would have 
been if the standard had not been introduced and the former accounting treatment was 
maintainted. Variance explanations for significant movements are provided. 
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Explanation for variances 

1. Revenue recognition for 44 grant projects impacted by the introduction of new revenue
recognition standards. Upfront recognition of revenue on transition for projects recognised under
AASB 1058 reduced revenue recognition by approximately $2.53 million. Impacted projects
typically relate to environmental offsets were funds are granted for rehabilitation.

2. Receivables recognised under AASB 1058 for environmental offset funding arrangements with
mining companies or developers.

3. Deferred funding for the Northwest Shelf Flatback Turtle Conservation Program and other
grants and funding agreements.

9.1.1b) AASB 16 Leases 

AASB 16 Leases supersedes AASB 117 Leases and related Interpretations. AASB 16 primarily 
affects lessee accounting and provides a comprehensive model for the identification of lease 
arrangements and their treatment in the financial statements of both lessees and lessors. 

The Department applies AASB 16 Leases from 1 July 2019 using the modified retrospective 
approach. As permitted under the specific transition provisions, comparatives are not restated. 
The cumulative effect of initially applying this Standard is recognised as an adjustment to the 
opening balance of accumulated surplus/(deficit). 

The main changes introduced by this Standard include identification of lease within a contract and 
a new lease accounting model for lessees that require lessees to recognise all leases (operating 
and finance leases) on the Statement of Financial Position as right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities, except for short term leases (lease terms of 12 months or less at commencement date) 
and low-value assets (where the underlying asset is valued less than $5,000). The operating 
lease and finance lease distinction for lessees no longer exists. 

Under AASB 16, the Department takes into consideration all operating leases that were off 
balance sheet under AASB 117 and recognises: 

Variance 
Actual  

2020 

30 June 2020 
under AASB 

118 and 1004 Variance 
note ($000) ($000) ($000) 

Statement of 
Comprehensive Income 
Income 
Commonwealth grants and 
contributions 

1 2,255 3,178 (923) 

Other grants and 
contributions 

1 20,314 22,404 (2,090) 

Statement of Financial 
Position 
Assets 
Receivables – current 2 11,348 9,066 2,282 
Receivables – non-current 2 2,408 0 2,408 

Liabilities 
Other current liabilities 3 11,012 4,375 6,637 
Other non-current liabilities 3 5,375 0 5,375 

Deficit for the period would have been $239.17 million without the adoption of AASB 15 or 1058. 
Variance of $3.013 million from reported loss of $242.18 million in 2019-20. 
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(a) right of use assets and lease liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position, initially measured
at the present value of future lease payments, discounted using the appropriate incremental
borrowing rate on 1 July 2019 based on the term of the lease. Incremental borrowing rates
were sourced from the West Australian Treasury Corporation;

(b) depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income; and

(c) the total amount of cash paid as principal amount, which is presented in the cash flows from
financing activities, and interest paid, which is presented in the cash flows from operating
activities, in the Statement of Cash Flows.

The Department measures concessionary leases that are of low value terms and conditions at 
cost at inception. There is no financial impact for the Department. Qualitative notes about the 
concessionary leases the Department has is disclosed at 7.1. 

The right-of-use assets are assessed for impairment at the date of transition and the Department 
has not identified any impairments to its right-of-use assets. 

On transition, the Department has elected to apply the following practical expedients in the 
assessment of their leases that were previously classified as operating leases under AASB 117: 

(a) A single discount rate has been applied to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar
characteristics;

(b) Where the lease term at initial application ended within 12 months, the Department has
accounted for these as short-term leases;

(c) Initial direct costs have been excluded from the measurement of the right-of-use asset;

The Department has not reassessed whether existing contracts are, or contained a lease at 1 
July 2019. The requirements of paragraphs 9-11 of AASB 16 are applied to contracts that came 
into existence post 1 July 2019. 

Actual 
($000) 

Measurement of lease liabilities 
Operating Lease Commitments disclosed as at 30 June 2019 16,000 
Discounted using incremental borrowing rate at date of initial application1 15,087 
Add: Additional lease liabilities recognised as at 1 July 2019 1,038 
(Less): Short term leases not recognised as liability (489) 
(Less): Low value leases not recognised as liability (22) 
(Less):GOA leases not recognised as right-of-use assets (5,992) 
Lease liability at recognition calculation 9,622 

Lease liability recognised at 1 July 2019 9,622 

Current lease liabilities 3,800 
Non-current lease liabilities 5,822 

1The WATC incremental borrowing rate was used for the purposes of 
calculating the lease transition opening balance. 
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9.1.2 Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards issued not yet operative 

The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically 
permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements 
or by an exemption from TI 1101. Where applicable, the Department plans to apply the following 
Australian Accounting Standards from their application date. 

Operative 
for reporting 
periods 
beginning 
on/after 

AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors 

This Standard addresses the accounting for a service concession 
arrangement (a type of public private partnership) by a grantor that is a 
public sector agency by prescribing the accounting for the arrangement 
from the grantor’s perspective. Timing and measurement for the 
recognition of a specific asset class occurs on commencement of the 
arrangement and the accounting for associated liabilities is determined by 
whether the grantee is paid by the grantor or users of the public service 
provided.  

(The Department has not identified any public private partnerships within 
scope of the Standard). 

1 Jan 2020 

AASB 2018-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of a 
Business 

The Standard amends AASB 3 to clarify the definition of a business, 
assisting entities to determine whether a transaction should be accounted 
for as a business combination or as an asset acquisition. 

There is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2020 

The effect of adopting AASB 15, AASB 1058 and  AASB 16 as at 1 July 2019 was, as follows: 
1 July 

2019 
Adjustments ($000) 

Assets 
Receivables  (a) 6,746
Other current assets (b) (166)
Right-of-use assets (b) 9,788
Total Assets 16,368 

Liabilities 
Other current liabilities (a) 11,053
Lease liabilities (b) 9,622
Total Liabilities 20,675 

Total adjustments on Equity 
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) (a),(b) (4,307) 

(4,307) 
With these changes, the net impact on retained earnings on 1st July 2019 was a decrease of 
$4.31 million. 
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AASB 2018-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Definition of Material 

The Standard principally amends AASB 101 and AASB 108. The 
amendments refine the definition of material in AASB 101. The 
amendments clarify the definition of material and its application by 
improving the wording and aligning the definition across AASB Standards 
and other publications. The amendment also includes some supporting 
requirements in AASB 101 in the definition to give it more prominence and 
clarifies the explanation accompanying the definition of material. 

There is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2020 

AASB 2019-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – References to the 
Conceptual Framework 

This Standard sets out amendments to Australian Accounting Standards, 
Interpretations and other pronouncements to reflect the issuance of the 
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (Conceptual Framework) 
by the AASB. 

There is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2020 

AASB 2019-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Implementation of 
AASB 1059 

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 16 and AASB 1059 to: (a) 
amend the modified retrospective method set out in paragraph C4 of AASB 
1059; (b) modify AASB 16 to provide a practical expedient to grantors of 
service concession arrangements so that AASB 16 would not need to be 
applied to assets that would be recognised as service concession assets 
under AASB 1059; and (c) include editorial amendments to the application 
guidance and implementation guidance accompanying AASB 1059. 

The Department does not maintain any public private partnership that is 
within the scope of the Standard. 

1 Jan 2020 

AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-current 

This Standard amends AASB 101 to clarify requirements for the 
presentation of liabilities in the statement of financial position as current or 
non current. 

There is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2020 
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9.2 Correction of prior period errors 

In the 2019-20 period it was identified that depreciation for buildings had been overstated in 
previous financial periods. When revaluations were processed the revaluation 
increment/decrement and the write back of accumulated depreciation was accounted for on a 
batch/group basis. Depreciation was overstated as individual building assets depreciated on the 
basis of their gross historical cost in the accounting system rather than at a restated fair value.  

The correction for the over-depreciation of buildings was calculated from and including the 2013-
14 period with the cumulative impact presented in the restated 2017-18 Statement of Financial 
Position. The net cumulative impact is a reduction in revaluation reserves for buildings and an 
increase in accumulated surplus with the balance of buildings being unaffected. Correcting entries 
were based on the batch write backs of accumulated depreciation processed during revaluation.  

The correction of the prior period error has been applied retrospectively and the amount of the 
adjustment relating to each of the prior periods is presented below.  

a) Restatement of prior year balances and transactions

As previously 
reported Adjustments Restated 

2019 2019 2019 
Statement of Comprehensive Income ($000) ($000) ($000) 
Depreciation 27,053 (4,695) 22,358 
Changes in asset revaluation 
surplus (147,118) (4,695) (151,813) 

Contributed 
Equity Reserves 

Accumulated 
Surplus 

2018 2018 2018 
Statement of Changes in Equity ($000) ($000) ($000) 
Balance as at 1 July 2018 3,052,885 207,935 59,386 
Changes in accounting policy* 0 0 (24) 
Correction of prior period errors 0 (15,925) 15,925 
Balance as at 1 July 2018 - restated 3,052,885 192,010 75,287 

*Relates to the implementation of AASB 9 Financial Instruments in a prior period. Previously
disclosed as an amendment to the opening balance of accumulated surplus in the 2018-19
financial statements.
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b) Restatement of prior year income and expense by service

9.3 Key management personnel 

The Department has determined key management personnel to include Cabinet Ministers and 
senior officers of the Department. The Department does not incur expenditures to compensate 
Ministers and those disclosures may be found in the Annual Report on State Finances.  

The total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for senior 
officers of the Department for the reporting period are presented within the following bands: 

Schedule of Income and  
As previously 

reported Adjustments Restated 
Expenses by Service -  2019 2019 2019 
Depreciation Expense ($000) ($000) ($000) 
Visitor Services and Public 
Programs Provided in the Swan and 
Canning Riverpark 338 (94) 244
Visitor Services and Public 
Programs Provided in National 
Parks and Other Lands and Waters 13,843 (1,643) 12,200 
Conserving Habitats, Species and 
Ecological Communities 2,674 (798) 1,876
Research and Conservation 
Partnerships 754 (235) 519
Implementation of the Forest 
Management Plan 1,469 (376) 1,093
Prescribed Burning and Fire 
Management 4,878 (892) 3,986
Bushfire Suppression 3,097 (657) 2,440
Total 27,053 (4,695) 22,358 

Compensation band ($) 2020 2019 

410,001 – 420,000 1 0 
400,001 – 410,000 0 0 
390,001 – 400,000 0 1 
380,001 – 390,000 0 0 
270,001 – 280,000 1 1 
260,001 – 270,000 0 0 
220,001 – 230,000 3 1 
210,001 – 220,000 1 2 
200,001 – 210,000 1 2 

2020 
($000) 

2019 
($000) 

Short term employee benefits 1,423 1,368 
Post employment benefits 198 193 
Other long term benefits 164 163 
Termination benefits 0 0 
Total compensation of senior officers 1,785 1,724 

Total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in 
respect of senior officers.  
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9.4 Related party transactions 

The Department is a wholly owned public sector entity that is controlled by the State of Western 
Australia.  

Related parties of the Department include: 

• all Cabinet Ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled
entities;

• all senior officers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled
entities;

• other departments and statutory authorities, including related bodies that are included in the
whole of government consolidated financial statements (i.e. wholly-owned public sector
entities);

• associates and joint ventures, of a wholly-owned public sector entity; and

• the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

Significant transactions with Government-related entities

In conducting its activities, the Department is required to transact with the State and entities
related to the State. These transactions are generally based on the standard terms and conditions
that apply to all departments. Such transactions include:

• superannuation payments to GESB (Note 3.1(a));

• grants and subsidies to the Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, Zoological Park Authority,
Rottnest Island Authority, Department of Water and Environmental Regulation, Western
Australian Museum and Department of Finance (Note 3.2);

• supplies and services transactions with government related entities (Note 3.3);

• operating leases on motor vehicles, other lease, rental and hire expense transactions with State
Fleet and Department of Fire and Emergency (Note 3.3);

• accommodation expense transactions with the Department of Finance and Department of
Primary Industries and Regional Development (Note 3.3);

• income from State Government (Note 4.1);

• services received free of charge from other State government agencies (Note 4.1);

• services rendered and user fees charged by the Department to other government agencies
(Note 4.2);

• insurance payments from the Insurance Commission and Riskcover fund (Note 4.3);

• other grants and contributions received from other state government agencies (Note 4.5);

• right-of-use assets representing State Fleet leases for motor vehicles and accommodation
leased through the Department of Communities (Note 5.2);

• lease liabilities with Department of Communities and State Fleet (Note 7.1);

• equity contribution (Note 9.8);

• Royalties for Regions Fund (Note 4.1) and equity injections from Royalties for Regions Funds
(Note 9.8); and

• remuneration for services provided by the Auditor General (Note 9.7).

Significant outstanding balances with government related entities

Significant balances include:

Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions 2019–20 Annual Report          165



• receivables from government related entities (Note 6.2);

• unearned revenue from the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage (Note 6.6).

Significant outstanding commitments with government related entities

Significant commitments include lease rental payments in fleet and accommodation leasing to the
Department of Finance (Note 7.4.1).

Material transactions with other related parties

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the Department, there were no other related party
transactions that involved key management personnel and/or their close family members and/or
their controlled (or jointly controlled) entities.

9.5 Affiliated bodies 

The following government affiliated body received more than half its funding and resources 
from the Department but is not subject to operational control by the Department. 

2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

Conservation and Parks Commission 509 683 
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority(a)

Recurrent 12,457 11,641 
Capital 1,085 1,000 

13,452 12,641 
Balance at end of period 14,051 13,324 

(a)As explained at Note 2.1 the Department provides funding, via a grant payment, to the
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, the Rottnest Island Authority and the Zoological Parks
Authority to fund services and programs. In the case of the Botanic Gardens and Parks
Authority this amounted to more than 50% of its funding in the 2019-20 and the 2018-19
financial year.

9.6 Special purpose accounts 
 
Biodiversity Conservation Account (a)

The purpose of the account is to fund scientific research relating to flora and fauna. 

Balance at start of period 422 358 
Receipts 174 102 
Payments 0 (38) 
Balance at end of period 596 422 

Barrow Island Net Conservation Benefit Account (b) 

The purpose of the account is to fund ongoing programs that will provide demonstrable and 
sustainable additions to or improvements in biodiversity conservation values of Western 
Australia targeting, where possible, the biodiversity conservation values affected or occurring 
in similar bioregions to Barrow Island.    
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2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

Balance at start of period 1,873 2,564 
Receipts 2,437 2,456 
Payments (1,957) (3,147) 
Balance at end of period 2,353 1,873 

National Parks Essential Works Account (c) 

The purpose of this account is to hold net proceeds in respect of forest produce taken or 
received under section 99A Conservation and Land Management Act 1984 and from which 
moneys shall be applied only for the purposes of land to which Division 2 of VIII of the 
Conservation and Land Management Act 1984 applies.  

There were no transactions through the account for the reporting period. The account had a 
zero balance at the end of the reporting period. 

(a)Established under section 16(1)(b) of Financial Management Act 2006.

(b)Established under section 16(1)(b) of Financial Management Act 2006.

(c)Established under section 69(2) of the Conservation and Land Management Act 1984.

9.7 Remuneration of auditors 
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current 
financial year is as follows: 

Auditing the accounts, financial statements, controls, and 
key performance indicators 225 237 
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Restated 
2020 2019 

($000) ($000) 
9.8 Equity 
Contributed equity 
Balance at start of period 3,062,619 3,052,885 
Contributions by owners 
Capital appropriation 10,778 3,762 

Other contributions by owners 
Royalties for Regions Fund – Regional Infrastructure and 
Headworks Account 

17,286 4,412 

Royalties for Regions Fund – Regional Community 
Services Account 

1,273 2,022 

Transfer of net assets from other agencies 
Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage 20,342 0 
Department of Water and Environmental Regulation 3,641 0 
Department of Primary Industries and Regional  
Development 0 399 
Total contributions by owners 3,115,939 3,063,480 

Distributions to owners 
Transfer of net assets to other agencies: 
Zoological Parks Authority (758) (735)
Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage 0 (126)
Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority (85) 0
Total distributions to owners (843) (861)
Balance at end of period 3,115,096 3,062,619 

Asset revaluation surplus 

Balance at start of period 40,197 207,935 
Correction of a prior period error 0 (15,925) 
Restated balance at the start of period 40,197 192,010 

Net revaluation increments/(decrements): 
Land 0 (151,901) 
Buildings 1,105 88 
Balance at end of period 41,302 40,197 

Accumulated surplus 

Balance at start of period (27,449) 59,386 
Correction of a prior period error(a)  0 15,925 
Changes in accounting policy(b) (4,307) (24) 
Restated balance at the start of period (31,756) 75,287 

Result for the period (242,178) (102,736) 
Balance at end of period (273,934) (27,449) 
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(a) As explained at Note 9.2 the over-depreciation of buildings was identified as a prior period
error in the 2019-20 financial period. Accumulated surplus and revaluation reserve were
restated to rectify the identified error.
(b) As explained at Note 9.1.1 the Department applied AASB 16, AASB 15 and AASB 1058
prospectively with an initial application date of 1 July 2019. An adjustment was recorded against
the opening balance of receivables, other current assets, right-of-use assets, lease liabilities
and other liabilities.

9.9 Supplementary financial information 

(a) Write-offs

During the financial year $11,151 (2019: $12,009) was written off as bad debts and $170,832 
(2019: $44,803) of the Department’s asset and public property register under the authority of: 

2020 2019 
($000) ($000) 

The Accountable Authority 69 57 
The Minister 113 0 
Executive Council 0 0 
Balance at end of period 182 57 

The amount approved for write off during the year of $56,072 (2019: $45,670) relates to 
losses through theft, defaults and other causes disclosed at note 9.9 (b) below. 

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes

Losses of public money and other property through theft or 
default 

56 46 

Amounts recovered  0 0 

Balance at end of period 56 46 
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9.10 Explanatory statement (Controlled Operations) 
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2020, and between the actual results for 2020 and 2019 are 
shown below. “2020 Estimate” refers to the Department’s (excluding Zoological Parks Authority, Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority 
and Rottnest Island Authority) budget estimates. Narratives are provided for key major variances, which are generally greater than:  
• 10% and $1 million for the Statements of Comprehensive Income, Cash Flows, and the Statement of Financial Position.

9.10.1  Statement of Comprehensive 
Income Variances 

Variance 
note 

Estimate 
2020 

Actual 
2020 

Restated 
Actual 

2019 

Variance 
between 

estimate and 
actual 

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 

2020 
and 2019 

($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) 
Expenses 
Employee benefits expense 1,A 167,317 175,133 168,040 7,816 7,093 
Supplies and services 71,910 72,212 71,679 302 533 
Depreciation expense 2,B 34,401 26,252 22,358 (8,149) 3,894 
Accommodation expenses 2,836 3,417 3,041 581 376 
Grants and subsidies 3,C 4,250 42,771 35,347 38,521 7,424 
Other expenses 26,020 24,680 24,082 (1,340) 598 
Finance costs 1,165 262 0 (903) 262
Total cost of services 307,899 344,727 324,547 36,828 20,180 

Loss on revaluation of assets 
Loss on revaluation of land  4,D 0 251,400 106,416 251,400 144,984 
Total loss on revaluation of land 0 251,400 106,416 251,400 144,984 

Income 
Revenue 
User charges and fees 5 37,843 43,503 45,920 5,660 (2,417) 
Commonwealth grants and contributions 6 750 2,255 1,260 1,505 995 
Other grants and contributions 7 26,279 20,314 19,235 (5,965) 1,079 
Interest revenue 8,E 1,988 781 1,946 (1,207) (1,165) 
Other revenue 9,F 10,320 13,980 11,569 3,660 2,411 
Total Revenue 77,180 80,833 79,930 3,653 903 
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Variance 
note 

Estimate 
2020 

Actual 
2020 

Restated 
Actual 

2019 

Variance 
between 

estimate and 
actual 

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 

2020 
and 2019 

Gains 
($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) 

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 0 342 766 342 (424) 
Total Gains 0 342 766 342 (424) 
Total income other than income from State 

Government 
77,180 81,175 80,696 3,995 479 

NET COST OF SERVICES 230,719 514,952 350,267 284,233 164,685 

Income from State Government 
Service appropriation 10 210,167 254,292 233,712 44,125 20,580 
Services received free of charge 1,493 1,384 2,060 (109) (676)
Royalties for Regions Fund 11,G 22,097 17,098 11,759 (4,999) 5,339 
Total income from State Government 233,757 272,774 247,531 39,017 25,243 
SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD 3,038 (242,178) (102,736) (245,216) (139,442) 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
Items not reclassified subsequently to 

profit or loss 
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 0 1,105 (151,813) 1,105 152,918 
Total other comprehensive income 3,038 1,105 (151,813) 1,105 152,198 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR 
THE PERIOD 

3,038 (241,073) (254,549) (244,111) 13,476 

Major Estimate and Actual (2020) Variance Narratives 
1. Employee benefits expense exceeded estimates by $7.82 million (4.67%) due to increased bushfire suppression activity in the 2019-20 fire season resulting in increased
overtime, accommodation and meal costs to support suppression efforts. Leave provisions also increased in the 2019-20 period.
2. Depreciation is under estimates by $8.15 million (23.69%). As discussed at note 9.2 it was discovered in the 2019-20 period that buildings was over-depreciating and an
adjustment was made to ensure depreciation was in line with the expected rate for the asset class.
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3. Grants and subsidies exceeded estimates by $38.52 million (906.38%) mainly due to payment of annual grants (appropriation) to Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority,
Rottnest Island Authority and Zoological Parks Authority which is not anticipated in the budget.
4. Loss on revaluation of assets exceeded estimates by $251.4 million due to the decline in the value of land assessed by the Valuer General. There was a general 10 to
15% reduction in property values throughout the state. The Department holds a large portfolio of land parcels spread across the state.
5. User charges and fees exceeds estimates by $5.66 million (14.96%) mainly due to payment for corporate services (payroll and IT) from Botanic Gardens and Parks
Authority, Rottnest Island Authority and Zoological Parks Authority.
6. Commonwealth grants and contributions exceeded estimates by $1.51 million (200.67%) due to additional Commonwealth funding for emergency interventions to
protect threatened plants and animals, their habitats and other natural assets. Funding was provided in response to the 2019-20 bushfire season and its impact on
Australian threatened flora and fauna.
7. Other grants and contributions is under estimates by $5.97 million (22.7%) due to a lower level of grant funding received from state entities, in particular, less capital
grants received for environmental offset land purchases. The application of new revenue accounting standards AASB 15 and AASB 1058 also resulted in the deferral of
recognition of revenue that would have normally been recognised under AASB 1004 Contributions.
8. Interest revenue is under estimates by $1.21 million (60.71%) due to the general decline in interest rates following the impact of COVID-19.
9. Other revenue exceeded estimates by $3.66 million (35.47%) due to higher than expected fees from apiary sites, communication sites, mining compensation and
moorings.
10. Service appropriation exceeded estimates by $44.13 million (21%) due to receipt of appropriation for Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, Rottnest Island Authority
and Zoological Parks Authority. Additional appropriation was received by the Department as part of supplementary funding for 2019-20 received to minimise the
disruption of COVID-19 on own-source revenue. Additional appropriation was also received by the Department to cover additional bushfire suppression costs.
11. Royalties for Regions Fund is under estimates by $5 million (22.62%) due to less funds being drawn down than expected.

Major Actual (2020) and Comparative (2019) Variance Narratives 
A. Employee benefits expense increased by $7.09 million (4.22%) due to increased bushfire suppression activity in the 2019-20 fire season resulting in increased overtime,
accommodation and meal costs to support suppression efforts. Leave provisions also increased in the 2019-20 period.
B. Depreciation and amortisation expense increased by $3.89 million (17.42%) due to the capitalisation of right-of-use assets from 1 July 2019 with the application of
AASB 16 Leases.
C. Grants and subsidies expenses increased $7.42 million (21%) due to increased appropriation funding provided to Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, Rottnest Island
Authority and Zoological Parks Authority through the 2019-20 supplementary funding budget process administered by Treasury. Supplementary funding was available to
entities that had experienced a decline in own-sourced revenue due to restrictions implemented to combat COVID-19.
D. Loss on revaluation of assets increased by $144.98 million (136.24%) due to the decline in the value of land assessed by the Valuer General. There was a general 10 to
15% reduction in property values throughout the state.
E. Interest revenue decreased by $1.17 million (59.87%) due to the general decline in interest rates following the impact of COVID-19.
F. Other revenue increased by $2.41 million (20.84%) due to higher than expected fees from apiary sites, communication sites, mining compensation and moorings.
G. Royalties for Regions Fund increased by $5.34 million (45.4%) partly due to a higher drawdown of funds for the Aboriginal Ranger Program.
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9.10.2   Statement of Financial Position 
Variances 

Variance 
note 

Estimate 
2020 

Actual 
2020 

Restated 
Actual 

2019 

Variance 
between 

estimate and 
actual 

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 

2020 
and 2019 

($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) 
ASSETS 
Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 18,159 16,437 13,425 (1,722) 3,012 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 64,288 63,787 60,169 (501) 3,618
Inventories 1,236 1,581 857 345 724 
Receivables 8,152 11,348 12,161 3,196 (813) 
Amounts receivable for services A 9,782 9,782 8,717 0 1,065 
Other current assets 1 7,411 2,935 3,029 (4,476) (94) 
Non current assets held for sale 0 44 101 44 (57) 
Total Current Assets 109,028 105,914 98,459 (3,114) 7,455 

Non-Current Assets 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2,999 2,367 1,805 (632) 562
Receivables 2,B 0 2,408 0 2,408 2,408 
Amounts receivable for services C 209,736 208,648 184,266 (1,088) 24,382 
Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment 3, D 3,100,305 2,626,538 2,837,901 (473,767) (211,363) 
Right-of-use assets 4,E 33,398 10,154 0 (23,244) 10,154 
Total Non-Current Assets 3,346,438 2,850,115 3,023,972 (496,323) (173,857) 
TOTAL ASSETS 3,455,466 2,956,029 3,122,431 (499,437) (166,402) 

LIABILITIES 
Current Liabilities 
Payables 248 4,414 3,120 4,166 1,294 
Lease liabilities F 3,971 3,710 0 (261) 3,710
Employee related provisions 33,331 35,644 32,410 2,313 3,234 
Other current liabilities 5,G 5,750 11,012 4,781 5,262 6,231 
Total Current Liabilities 43,300 54,780 40,311 11,480 14,469 
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Variance 
note 

Estimate 
2020 

Actual 
2020 

Restated 
Actual 

2019 

Variance 
between 

estimate and 
actual 

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 

2020 
and 2019 

($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) 
Non-Current Liabilities 
Lease liabilities 6,H 29,604 6,403 0 (23,201) 6,403 
Employee related provisions 6,466 7,007 6,753 541 254 
Other non-current liabilities 7,I 94 5,375 0 5,281 5,375 
Total Non-Current Liabilities 36,164 18,785 6,753 (17,379) 12,032 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 79,464 73,565 47,064 (5,899) 26,501 

NET ASSETS 3,376,002 2,882,464 3,075,367 (493,538) (192,903) 

EQUITY 
Contributed equity 3,103,229 3,115,096 3,062,619 11,867 52,477 
Reserves 8 207,935 41,302 40,197 (166,633) 1,105 
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) 64,838 (273,934) (27,449) (338,772) (246,485) 
TOTAL EQUITY 3,376,002 2,882,464 3,075,367 (493,538) (192,903) 

Major Estimate and Actual (2020) Variance Narratives 
1. Other current assets is under estimates by $4.48 million (60.40%) due to grants being held as prepayments in the prior annual reporting periods.
2. Non-current receivables exceeded estimates by $2.41 million due to the upfront recognition of revenue for some funding agreements with the implementation of AASB
1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities.
3. Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment is under estimates by $473.77 million (15.28%) due to the loss on revaluation of assets in the 2018-19 and 2019-20
financial periods. The 2019-20 estimates were set before the 2018-19 actuals.
4. Right-of-use assets were under estimates by $23.24 million (69.60%) as Treasury policies on the recognition of periodic Government Regional Officer Housing (GROH)
leases and Government Office Accommodation (GOA) leases changed to recognising the leases as operating leases and expensing them on a straight-line basis.
5. Other current liabilities exceeded estimates by $5.26 million (91.51%) as the implementation of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058
Income of Not-for-Profit Entities resulted in an increase in unearned revenue associated with grants and funding agreements.
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6. Non-current lease liabilities is under estimates by $23.20 million (78.37%) as Treasury policies on the recognition of periodic Government Regional Officer Housing
(GROH) leases and Government Office Accommodation (GOA) leases changed to recognising the leases as operating leases and expensing them on a straight-line basis.
7. Other non-current liabilities exceeded estimates by $5.28 million as the implementation of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058 Income of
Not-for-Profit Entities resulted in an increase in unearned revenue associated with grants and funding agreements. Funds associated with the Northwest Shelf Flatback
Turtle Conservation Program have been deferred.
8. Reserves are under estimates by $166.63 million (80.14%) due to the loss on revaluation in the 2018-19 period being incurred after the 2019-20 budget figure was set.

Major Actual (2020) and Comparative (2019) Variance Narratives 
A. Current amounts receivable for services increased by $1.07 million (12.22%) with accrual appropriation received for future asset replacement.
B. Non-current receivables increased by $2.41 million  due to the upfront recognition of revenue for some funding agreements with the implementation of AASB 1058.
C. Non-current amounts receivable for services increased by $24.38 million (13.23%) in line with the accrual appropriation provided by Treasury net off funds drawn down
to replace Department assets.
D. Infrastructure, property, plant and equipment decreased by $211.36 million (7.45%) due to the $251.4 million loss on revaluation of land per the Landgate valuation of
land parcels held by the Department.
E. Right of use assets increased by $10.15 million due to the implementation of AASB 16 leases in the 2019-20 period.
F. Current lease liabilities increased by $3.71 million due to the implementation of AASB 16 Leases in the 2019-20 period.
G. Other current liabilities increased by $6.23 million (130.33%) due to the implementation of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and AASB 1058 Income of
Not-for-Profit Entities that resulted in the additional recognition of unearned revenue associated with grants and funding agreements.
H. Non-current lease liabilities increased by $6.4 million due to the implementation of AASB 16 Leases in the 2019-20 period.
I. Other non-current liabilities increased by $5.38 million due to deferred revenue recognised for funding agreements linked to the Gorgon Processing Agreement such as
the Northwest Shelf Flatback Turtle Conservation Program. The deferred revenue recognition is linked to the implementation of AASB 15 Contracts with Customers.
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9.10.3   Statement of Cash Flows 
Variances 

Variance 
note 

Estimate 
2020 

Actual 
2020 

Actual 
2019 

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and 
actual 

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 

2020 
and 2019 

($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) 
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE 
GOVERNMENT 
Service appropriation 1 174,915 220,128 204,538 45,213 15,590 
Capital appropriations A 11,190 10,778 3,762 (412) 7,016
Holding account drawdown 8,717 8,717 8,859 0 (142) 
Cash and cash equivalents transferred from / 
(to) owner 

0 (843) (735) (843) (108)

Royalties for Regions Fund 2,B 46,091 35,657 18,193 (10,434) 17,464
Net cash provided by State Government 240,913 274,437 234,617 33,524 39,820 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES 

Payments 
Employee benefits (167,045) (171,619) (167,556) (4,574) (4,063) 
Supplies and services (70,426) (71,821) (69,216) (1,395) (2,605) 
Accommodation (2,834) (3,417) (3,041) (583) (376)
Grants and subsidies 3,C (4,250) (42,771) (35,347) (38,521) (7,424) 
GST payments on purchases 4 (11,322) (13,419) (12,389) (2,097) (1,030) 
GST payments to taxation authority 0 (207) (60) (207) (147)
Other payments D (26,018) (24,045) (19,881) 1,973 (4,164) 
Finance costs (1,165) (262) 0 903 (262) 

Receipts 
User charges and fees 5 38,355 46,285 42,294 7,930 3,991 
Commonwealth grants and contributions 6 749 3,138 1,260 2,389 1,878 
Interest received 1,988 1,063 2,109 (925) (1,046)
GST receipts on sales 5,500 5,410 5,498 (90) (88)
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Variance 
Note 

Estimate 
2020 

Actual 
2020 

Actual 
2019 

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and 
actual 

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 

2020 
and 2019 

($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) 

GST receipts from taxation authority 7,E 5,827 8,476 7,040 2,649 1,436 
Other receipts F 36,088 35,902 31,147 (186) 4,755
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating 
activities 

(194,553) (227,287) (218,142) (32,734) (9,145) 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES 
Payments 
Purchase of non-current physical assets 8,G (41,901) (36,294) (32,971) 5,607 (3,323) 
Receipts 
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical 
assets 

500 990 988 490 2 

Net cash provided by /(used in) investing 
activities  

(41,401) (35,304) (31,983) 6,097 (3,321) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES 
Payments 
Principal repayments of lease liabilities (4,949) (4,654) 0 295 (4,654) 
Net cash provided by /(used in) financing 
activities  

(4,949) (4,654) 0 295 (4,654) 
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Variance 
Note 

Estimate 
2020 

Actual 
2020 

Actual 
2019 

Variance 
between 
estimate 

and 
actual 

Variance 
between 

actual 
results for 

2020 
and 2019 

($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) ($000) 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 

10 7,192 (15,508) 7,182 22,700 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 
of the period 

85,436 75,399 90,907 (10,037) (15,508) 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE 
END OF THE PERIOD 

85,446 82,591 75,399 (2,855) 7,192 

Major Estimate and Actual (2020) Variance Narratives 
1. Service appropriation exceeded estimates by $45.21 million (25.85%) due to receipt of appropriation for Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, Rottnest Island Authority
and Zoological Parks Authority. Additional appropriation was received by the Department as part of supplementary funding for 2019-20 received to minimise the
disruption of COVID-19 on own-source revenue. Additional appropriation was also received by the Department to cover additional bushfire suppression costs incurred in
the 2019-20 period.
2. Royalties for Regions Fund is under estimates by $10.43 million (22.64%) due to lower drawdowns than expected and a review of RfR projects resulting in less
appropriation provided.
3. Grants and subsidies exceeded estimates by $38.52 million (906.38%) due to payment of annual grants (appropriation) to Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority,
Rottnest Island Authority and Zoological Parks Authority. More grants were also expensed to private and local government entities to further conservation objectives.
4. GST payments on purchases exceeded estimates by $2.10 million (18.52%)  due to higher expenditure than predicted in the 2019-20 period.
5. User charges and fees exceeded estimates by $7.93 million (20.68%) mainly due to payment for corporate services (payroll and IT) from Botanic Gardens and Parks
Authority, Rottnest Island Authority and Zoological Parks Authority.
6. Commonwealth grants and contributions exceeded estimates by $2.39 million (318.96%) due to additional Commonwealth funding for emergency interventions to
protect threatened plants and animals, their habitats and other natural assets. Funding was provided in response to the 2019-20 bushfire season and its impact on
Australian threatened flora and fauna.
7. GST receipts from taxation authority exceeded estimates by $2.65 million (45.46%) in line with increased purchases against estimates.
8. Purchase of non-current physical assets is under estimates by $5.61 million (13.38%) due to lower Royalties for Regions Expenditure on capital projects.
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   Major Actual (2020) and Comparative (2019) Variance Narratives 
A. Capital appropriations increased by 7.02 million (186.5%) due to payment of lease principal via capital appropriation in the 2019-20 period to coincide with the
implementation of AASB 16 Leases.
B. Royalties for Regions Fund increased by $17.46 million (96%) mainly due to receipt of funding for the Aboriginal Ranger Program, Collie Preston Region road
upgrades, the Kalbarri Skywalk and the Lake Kepwari projects.
C. Grants and subsidies increased by $7.42 million (21%) due to increased appropriation funding provided to Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, Rottnest Island
Authority and Zoological Parks Authority through the 2019-20 supplementary funding budget process administered by Treasury. Supplementary funding was available
to entities that had experienced a decline in own-sourced revenue due to restrictions implemented to combat COVID-19.
D. Other payments increased by $4.16 million (20.94%) due to the change in grant prepayments in the 2018-19 period.
E. GST receipts from taxation authority increased by $1.44 million (20.4%) in line with increased purchases in comparison to the prior year.
F. Other receipts increased by $4.76 million (15.27%) due to higher than expected fees from apiary sites, communication sites, mining compensation and moorings.
G. Purchases of non-current physical assets increased by $3.32 million (10.08%) due to higher capital expenditure on Royalties for Regions (RfR) projects.
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10. Administered disclosures
This section sets out all the statutory disclosures regarding the financial performance of the
Department.

Notes 

Disclosure of administered income and expenses by 
service 

10.1 

Explanatory statement for administered income and 
expenses 

10.2 

Administered assets and liabilities 10.3 
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10.1. Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service 

Visitor 
Services and 

Public 
Programs 

Provided at 
Kings and 
Bold Park 

Visitor 
Services and 

Public 
Programs 

Provided at 
Rottnest 

Island 

Visitor 
Services 

and Public 
Programs 
Provided 
at Perth 

Zoo 

Visitor Services 
and Public 
Programs 

Provided at the 
Swan and 

Canning 
Riverpark 

Visitor Services 
and Public 
Programs 

Provided in 
National Parks 

and Other Lands 
and Waters 

Conserving 
Habitats, 

Species and 
Ecological 

Communities 

Research and 
Conservation 
Partnerships 

Implementation 
of the Forest 
Management 

Plan 

Prescribed 
Burning and 

Fire 
Management 

Bushfire 
Suppression 

Total 

2020 
($000) 

2020 
($000) 

2020 
($000) 

2020 
($000) 

2020 
($000) 

2020 
($000) 

2020 
($000) 

2020 
($000) 

2020 
($000) 

2020 
($000) 

2020 
($000) 

INCOME FROM 
ADMINISTERED 
ITEMS 

Income 
For transfer: 

Regulatory fees and 
other charges 0 0 0 0 0 63 0 0 0 0 63 

Other revenue 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Total administered 
income 0 0 0 0 0 63 0 0 0 0 63 

Expenses 
Transfer 
payments(a) 0 0 0 0 0 63 0 0 0 0 63 
Loss on valuation of 
biological assets 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 28,762 0 0 28,762 
Total administered 
expenses 0 0 0 0 0 63 0 28,762 0 0 28,825 
Net income from 
Administered 
Items 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (28,762) 0 0 (28,762) 

(a) Transfer payments represent the transfer of non-retainable regulatory fees to the Consolidated Account.
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10.1. Disclosure of administered income and expenses by service (cont.) 

Visitor 
Services and 

Public 
Programs 

Provided at 
Kings and 
Bold Park 

Visitor 
Services and 

Public 
Programs 

Provided at 
Rottnest 

Island 

Visitor 
Services 

and Public 
Programs 
Provided 
at Perth 

Zoo 

Visitor Services 
and Public 
Programs 

Provided at the 
Swan and 

Canning 
Riverpark 

Visitor Services 
and Public 
Programs 

Provided in 
National Parks 

and Other Lands 
and Waters 

Conserving 
Habitats, 

Species and 
Ecological 

Communities 

Research and 
Conservation 
Partnerships 

Implementation 
of the Forest 
Management 

Plan 

Prescribed 
Burning and 

Fire 
Management 

Bushfire 
Suppression 

Total 

2019 
($000) 

2019 
($000) 

2019 
($000) 

2019 
($000) 

2019 
($000) 

2019 
($000) 

2019 
($000) 

2019 
($000) 

2019 
($000) 

2019 
($000) 

2019 
($000) 

INCOME FROM 
ADMINISTERED 
ITEMS 

Income 
For transfer: 

Regulatory fees and 
other charges 0 0 0 0 0 49 0 0 0 0 49 

Other revenue 0 0 0 0 0 53 0 0 0 0 53 
Total administered 
income 0 0 0 0 0 102 0 0 0 0 102 

Expenses 
Transfer 
payments(a) 0 0 0 0 0 102 0 0 0 0 102 
Total administered 
expenses 0 0 0 0 0 102 0 0 0 0 102 
Net income from 
Administered 
Items 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

(a) Transfer payments represent the transfer of non-retainable regulatory fees to the Consolidated Account.
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10.2. Explanatory statement for administered income and expenses 
All variances between estimates (original budget) and actual results for 2020, and between the actual results for 2020 and 2019 are shown below. 
Narratives are provided for key major variances, which are generally greater than 10% and $1 million. 

Variance 
note 

Estimate Actual Actual Variance between 
estimate and actual 

Variance between actual 
results for 2020 and 2019 

2020 
($000) 

2020 
($000) 

2019 
($000)  ($000) ($000) 

INCOME FROM ADMINISTERED 
ITEMS 

Income 
For transfer: 
Regulatory fees and other 

charges 30 63 49 33 14 
Other revenue 1,A 0 0 53 0 (53) 
Total administered income 30 63 102 33 (39) 

Expenses 
Loss on valuation of biological 
assets 2,B 0 28,762 0 28,762 28,762 
Transfer payments(b) 30 63 102 33 (39) 
Total administered expenses 30 28,825 102 28,795 28,723 
Net income from Administered 
Items 0 (28,762) 0 (28,762) (28,762) 

(a) Biological assets represent native forest and wild sandalwood.
(b) Transfer payments represent the transfer of non-retainable regulatory fees to the Consolidated Account.

Major estimate and actual (2020) variance narratives 
1) Under the Biodiversity Conservation Act 2016 and the Biodiversity Conservation Regulations 2018 revenue collected from the issue of kangaroo shooter tags, for example, 

are retained by the Department rather than transferred to the consolidated account.
2) Native forest and sandalwood biological assets were transferred to the Department as at 1 July as contributed equity designated as a contribution by owners. The assets 

were revalued in the 2019-20 period.

Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions 2019–20 Annual Report          183



Major actual (2020) and comparative (2019) variance narratives 
A. Under the Biodiversity, Consevation Conservation Act 2016 and the Biodiversity Conservation Regulations 2018 revenue collected from the issue of kangaroo shooter tags, 

for example, are retained by the Department rather than transferred to the consolidated account.
B. Native forest and sandalwood biological assets were transferred to the Department as at 1 July as contributed equity designated as a contribution by owners. The assets 

were revalued in the 2019-20 period.
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10.3 Administered assets and liabilities 

2020 
($000) 

Current assets 
Native forest 0 
Sandalwood 3,576 
Total administered current assets 3,576 

Non-current assets 
Native forest 75,220 
Sandalwood 26,501 
Total administered non-current assets 101,721 
TOTAL ADMINISTERED ASSETS 105,297 

Native forest assets refers to trees available for harvest in the State forest and timber 
reserves in the South West of Western Australia that are covered by the Forest Management 
Plan. Sandalwood assets refers to wild sandalwood that grows on Department land. The 
licensing for the harvest of sandalwood is managed by the Department with the annual 
harvest limit for wild sandalwood determined by the Sandalwood (Limitation of Removal of 
Sandalwood) Order 2015.  

Native forest and sandalwood biological assets were transferred to the Department as at 1 
July as contributed equity designated as a contribution by owners. The assets were 
subsequently revalued in the 2019-20 period on a fair value basis based on projected net 
cashflows discounted to a net present value.   
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Certification of key performance indicators 

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and 
appropriate for assisting users to assess the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation and Attractions 
performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Department of Biodiversity, Conservation 
and Attractions for the financial year ended 30 June 2020. 

/��-
Mark Webb 
Accountable Authority 

10 September 2020 
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 

Outcome-Based Management Structure 

Government goal Desired outcomes Services and performance indicators* 

Better Places: 

A quality 
environment with 
liveable and 
affordable 
communities and 
vibrant regions. 

1. Community
enjoyment,
appreciation and
understanding of
attractions under the
Department’s care.

4. Visitor Services and Public Programs Provided in the Swan
and Canning Riverpark

Key effectiveness indicator: 
1. Average level of visitor satisfaction in the Swan and Canning

Riverpark

Key efficiency indicator 
KPI 4.1 Average Cost per Hectare in the Swan and Canning 

Riverpark 

5. Visitor Services and Public Programs Provided in National
Parks and Other Lands and Waters

Key effectiveness indicator: 
2. Average level of visitor satisfaction in national parks and other

lands and waters

Key efficiency indicator 
KPI 5.1 Average Cost per Hectare in national parks and other 

lands and waters 

2. Plants and animals
are conserved and
habitat, ecosystem
and landscape-scale
conservation utilises
evidenced-based
science.

6. Conserving Habitats, Species and Ecological Communities

Key effectiveness indicators: 
1. Proportion of critically endangered and endangered species and

ecological communities that have a recovery plan
2.Area of land baited for introduced predators

Key efficiency indicator 
KPI 6.1 Average Cost per Hectare of Wildlife Habitat 

7. Research and Conservation Partnerships

Key efficiency indicator 
KPI 7.1 Average Cost per Hectare of Wildlife Habitat 

3. Sustainable use of
forest resources.

8. Implementation of the Forest Management Plan

Key effectiveness indicator: 
1. Cumulative removal of jarrah and karri sawlogs by approved

harvesting operations compared to limits in the Forest
Management Plan

Key efficiency indicator 
KPI 8.1 Average Cost per Hectare of Forest 
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Government goal Desired outcomes Services and performance indicators 

4. Lands under the
Department’s care
are managed to
protect communities,
visitors and built and
natural assets from
bushfire damage and
planned fire is used
to achieve other land,
forest and wildlife
management
objectives.

9. Prescribed Burning and Fire Management

Key effectiveness indicator: 
1. Proportion of planned Priority 1 prescribed burns achieved

Key efficiency indicator 
KPI 9.1 Average Cost per Hectare Burnt 

10. Bushfire Suppression

Key effectiveness indicator: 
2. Proportion of South West bushfires contained to less than two

hectares

Key efficiency indicator 
KPI 10.1 Average Cost per Hectare Burnt 

*The Key Performance Indicators for 1. Visitor Services and Public Programs Provided at Kings Park
and Bold Park, 2. Visitor Services and Public Programs Provided at Rottnest Island and 3. Visitor
Services and Public Programs Provided at Perth Zoo, as listed in the Department’s OBM structure in
budget papers, are reported in the annual reports of Botanic Gardens and Parks Authority, Rottnest
Island Authority and Zoological Parks Authority respectively.
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Outcomes and Key Effectiveness Indicators 

Outcome 1: Community enjoyment, appreciation and understanding of attractions under the 
Department’s care: 

1. Average level of visitor satisfaction in the Swan and Canning Riverpark

2017–18 2018–19 2019–20 

Target 95.00% 90.00% 85.00% 

Actual 86.80% 83.10% 90.90% 

Note to indicator: Visitor satisfaction is surveyed annually for the Swan Canning Riverpark and 
adjoining foreshore parks and involves a survey of park visitors recording expectations, satisfaction, 
visitor perception and behaviour.  

The surveys are conducted at 23 different river foreshore parks with a total of 234 intercept surveys 
conducted. All the surveys are conducted on site using a questionnaire, through a face to face 
structured interview at selected sites along the whole of the Swan Canning Riverpark. The survey 
again applied the Yardstick User Survey platform as its basis. This allows direct comparison with other 
organisations in Australia, New Zealand and Canada, and the survey can be repeated regularly to 
allow trend analysis. Interviews are voluntary and contact details are collected where possible. All 
respondents receive the same set of questions, asked in the same order. 

The survey was based on a quantitative scoring system measuring satisfaction/dissatisfaction. The 
overall satisfaction of respondents was measured by asking them to rate their overall satisfaction with 
the park on a scale of very dissatisfied to very satisfied. From these, it was possible to determine 
mean (or average) satisfaction by adding the total of all scores (from 1 – very dissatisfied to 5 – very 
satisfied) and dividing by the total number of respondents to determine a score. This score is 
converted to a percentage to enable comparison with the target of 85. The confidence level was 95% 
with a margin of error for the average satisfaction of 90.9% being 3.7%. 

The reasons for the increase in satisfaction is likely due to the timing of the survey – in both 2018-19 
and in 2019-20 it was during 11-18 December. However, in 2018-19 it was partly in the school 
holidays whereas in 2019-20 it was entirely during the school term.  Therefore 2019-20 was more 
representative of locals and local demographics who were more satisfied with local parks than in 
2018-19 when the respondents were visitors. In 2019-20 the sample had greater ethnic diversity and 
there was a larger representation in the 35 to 49 age group. 

The Department reports a separate visitor satisfaction survey for Swan and Canning Riverpark as the 
Department manages Swan Canning Riverpark under Swan and Canning Rivers Management Act 
2006, as disclosed further in Efficiency KPI 4.1. This is a separate legislation to other land managed 
by DBCA. 
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2. Average level of visitor satisfaction in national parks and other lands and waters

The average level of customer satisfaction with their visit is a key indicator of the Department’s 
effectiveness in delivering parks and other natural areas that allow the community to understand, 
enjoy and appreciate the natural environment. Visitor satisfaction levels are consistently high. 

2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018–19 2019–20 

Target 85.00% 85.00% 95.00% 90.00% 90.00% 

Actual 91.40% 92.50% 92.50% 94.80% NR 

*NR = Not reported. Exemption provided by the Under Treasurer.

Note to indicator: A benchmark visitor satisfaction index has been adopted to compare visitor 
satisfaction levels each year. The index is averaged from visitor responses to the Statewide visitor 
survey conducted at selected parks, reserves, and forest areas around the state. The survey sample 
is stratified across the state by visitation distribution and collected in both peak and off-peak periods 
that includes weekday, weekends, public holidays, and school holidays.  

Visitor surveys are predominantly conducted on-site by a departmental officer or volunteer at major 
recreation areas within parks such as picnic areas and campgrounds. The target population are 
members of the general public who visit Parks and Wildlife Service-managed land and waters of a 
park or protected area for purposes mandated for the area. The Statewide surveys are typically 
administered via a structured interview via department staff and volunteers where respondents contact 
details are collected for audit purposes on an opt-in basis. The interview is voluntary. All intercepted 
respondents receive the same set of questions, asked in the same order or sequence by the 
interviewer who has been instructed to treat every interview situation in a like manner and ensuring 
they are playing a neutral role. Some samples may also be collected via on-line collection methods 
such as on-line surveys, where compatible with the sample stratification. These responses are 
anonymous. 

In 2019-20 an exemption from reporting ‘Average level of visitor satisfaction in national parks and 
other lands and waters’ was granted, upon request to the Under Treasurer. A representative sample 
was unable to be collected in 2019-20 due to the impact of government restrictions on international, 
inter-state and inter-regional travel implemented in response to COVID-19. Data collection via face-to-
face survey was also not possible with the precautionary ‘social distancing’ guidelines prescribed by 
government. The sample collected, up to the point before precautionary measures restricted visitation, 
was not deemed representative of a Statewide sample and would not be consistent with the 
methodology set for the indicator. With the granting of the exemption no data will be reported for the 
2019-20 actuals in the annual report or subsequent budget statements. 
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Outcome 2: Plants and animals are conserved and habitat, ecosystem and landscape-scale 
conservation utilises evidenced-based science: 

Biodiversity refers to the variety of plant and animal life in our world and the ecosystems they inhabit. 
Conservation of plants, animals and ecosystems is implemented through a range of scientifically 
informed actions to ensure it is evidence based and effective. Protection of threatened species and 
ecological communities, and management of threats at a landscape scale, are key representative 
approaches to conservation. The measures identified represent key indicators of the Department’s 
effectiveness in conservation of biodiversity in the natural environment. 

1. Proportion of critically endangered and endangered species and ecological communities
that have a recovery plan

2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018–19 2019–20 

Target 69.00% 71.00% 73.00% 72.00% 73.50% 

Actual 69.40% 72.90% 72.36% 73.20% 73.70% 

Note to indicator: Species and ecological communities listed as critically endangered and 
endangered are those most at risk of extinction and are a focus for conservation actions in the 
Department. Recovery plans provide guidance for conservation of threatened plants, animals and 
ecological communities, and are a basis for delivery of conservation actions.  The proportion of 
critically endangered and endangered species and ecological communities that have a recovery plan 
is representative of the Department’s effectiveness in conservation of threatened plants, animals and 
ecological communities, and is a key performance indicator for biodiversity conservation. 

The number of critically endangered and endangered plants, animals and ecological communities 
varies each year due to addition or removal of species and ecological communities on the threatened 
list, as well as changes in categories. The outcome for the KPI is contingent on the number of plans 
prepared and the change in species and ecological communities on the threatened list.  In 2019-20 
there were two additional species with recovery plans, resulting in an increase in the indicator. 

2. Area of land baited for introduced predators

2017-18 2018–19 2019–20 

Target 4,404,138 ha 4,347,107 ha 4,082,563 ha 

Actual 4,404,138 ha 4,110,063 ha 3,988,246 ha 

Note to indicator: Introduced predators have greatly contributed to the extinction and decline of many 
native animal species across Australia. Scientific research and monitoring have demonstrated that 
control of introduced predators, through baiting and other actions, is a key factor in protecting native 
animal populations. Broadscale baiting is conducted by DBCA on a routine basis to reduce the threat 
of foxes and feral cats to Western Australia’s native animals, and is representative of the Department’s 
effectiveness in conserving these species. The area baited by DBCA is a key performance indicator 
for biodiversity conservation. 

The annual baiting program occurs between 1 September and 31 August of a given year (i.e. spring 
baiting round through to the end of winter baiting round). The area baited is calculated to the boundary 
of a parcel of land noting that non-baiting buffers are in place for all baiting cells to comply with State 
legislative requirements for use of 1080. The difference between target and actual area of land baited 
for introduced predators in 2019–20 was due to amendments to cell boundaries and one cell not being 
baited in winter 2020. 
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Outcome 3: Sustainable use of forest resources: 

1. Cumulative removal of jarrah and karri sawlogs by approved harvesting operations
compared to limits in the Forest Management Plan

2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018–19 2019–20 

Target 382,000 m3 573,000 m3 764,000 m3 955,000 m3 1,146,000 m3 

Actual 253,850 m3 381,941 m3 497,503 m3 695,767 m3 777,430 m3 

Note to indicator: The 2014-2023 Forest Management Plan commenced on 1 January 2014. From 
2014-15 and successive years, the target figure is the cumulative total of the average annual 
allowable cut (132,000 m3 of Jarrah and 59,000m3 of Karri) for the 10-year life of the plan. The actual 
cumulative removal figure for 2019-20 carries forward adjustments made in the 2019 mid-term review 
of the performance of the plan. Adjustments to the raw data reflected variations in log products 
accepted by customers and off-cuts retained in the forest. Similar adjustments for the 2018-2022 
period will be incorporated in the 2022 end-of-term performance review of the plan. The annual and 
cumulative removals are lower than the pro-rata limits for both jarrah and karri sawlogs, reflecting 
market conditions for both sawlog and non-sawlog grades of timber. 

Outcome 4: Lands under the Department’s care are managed to protect communities, visitors 
and built and natural assets from bushfire damage and planned fire is used to achieve other 
land, forest and wildlife management objectives: 

1. Proportion of planned Priority 1 prescribed burns achieved

2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018–19 2019–20 

Target 50% 55% 55% 55% 55% 

Actual 64% 49% 67% 48% 42% 

Note to indicator: Priority 1 prescribed burns cannot constitute more than one third of planned 
prescribed burns, and providing enhanced criteria for prioritisation decisions, resulted in less Priority 1 
prescribed burns as a proportion of the total program. Conditions for prescribed burning were limited 
by a drier than normal spring and the impact of COVID-19 on regional boundaries which influenced 
the movement of resources across the South West to implement planned burns during autumn. 

2. Proportion of South West bushfires contained to less than two hectares

2015–16 2016–17 2017–18 2018–19 2019–20 

Target 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 

Actual 75% 83% 82% 81% 84% 

Note to indicator: This indicator relates to bushfires in the South West where the Department is the 
initial attack agency. As in previous financial years the fire season was relatively mild, and conditions 
were generally conducive to the success of rapid initial attack. 
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Key Efficiency Indicators 

Correction of prior period accounting error 

In the 2019-20 period it was identified that buildings had been historically over depreciated. 
See note 9.2 in the ‘Notes to the Financial Statements’ for more information. Prior year key 
efficiency indicators have been restated based on the reduction of depreciation across each 
service. 

Service 4: Visitor Services and Public Programs Provided in the Swan and Canning Riverpark 

4.1 Average Cost per Hectare in the Swan and Canning Riverpark 

Managing the Swan Canning Riverpark including assessing development proposals and 
delivering environmental management programs. The Swan Canning Riverpark consist of the 
area (hectares) for which the Department is responsible under the Swan and Canning Rivers 
Management (SCRM) Act 2006, comprising the Swan Canning waterway (vested with DBCA) 
and the adjoining public lands (vested with State and Local Authorities) included in the Parks 
and Recreation Reserve created under the Metropolitan Region Scheme. 

Restated Restated Restated 

2016–17* 2017–18* 2018–19* 2019–20 

Target $2,310 $2,052 $1,897 $1,939 

Actual $2,148 $2,152 $2,141 $1,868 

Actual - as previously reported $2,158 $2,158 $2,154 

*See note ‘9.2 Correction of prior period errors’ for additional information on prior period restatement.

Note to indicator: Actual average cost per hectare was lower than the target in the 2019-20 
Budget Statements mainly due to the actual expenditure on grants and subsides for projects 
such as the Riverbank Program being lower in the 2019-20 period. It should be noted that 
other state and local government authorities listed in Schedule 5 of the SCRM also carry out 
management functions in the Riverpark.    

Service 5: Visitor Services and Public Programs Provided in National Parks and Other Lands 
and Waters 

5.1 Average Cost per Hectare in National Parks and Other Lands and Waters 

Management of lands and waters; dealing with public involvement, visitation and appreciation 
of the natural environment on lands and waters managed by the Department. 

Restated Restated Restated 

2016–17* 2017–18* 2018–19* 2019–20 

Target $2.99 $3.40 $2.92 $3.24 

Actual $2.70 $3.16 $2.92 $3.08 

Actual - as previously reported $2.73 $3.18 $2.97 

*See note ‘9.2 Correction of prior period errors’ for additional information on prior period restatement.

Note to indicator: The actual average cost per hectare to manage national parks and other 
lands and waters is lower than the 2019-20 target budget. Depreciation for buildings was 
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adjusted, as discussed in note ‘9.2 Correction of prior period errors’. The actual average cost 
per hectare for 2019-20 was higher compared to 2018-19 mainly due to higher expenditure on 
various Royalties for Regions projects. 

Service 6: Conserving Habitats, Species and Ecological Communities 

6.1 Average Cost per Hectare of Wildlife Habitat 

Relates to costs associated with the development and implementation of programs for the 
conservation of biodiversity including the variety of life forms: the different plants, animals and 
microorganisms, the genes they contain, and the ecosystems they form. 

Restated Restated Restated 

2016–17* 2017–18* 2018–19* 2019–20 

Target $2.55 $2.21 $2.08 $2.00 

Actual $2.12 $1.89 $2.01 $1.91 

Actual - as previously reported $2.14 $1.90 $2.04 

*See note ‘9.2 Correction of prior period errors’ for additional information on prior period restatement.

Note to indicator: The actual average cost per hectare of conserving wildlife habitat, species 
and ecological communities is consistent with the 2019-20 target budget and marginally 
decreased by 4.5 per cent. 

Service 7: Research and Conservation Partnerships 

7.1 Average Cost per Hectare of Wildlife Habitat 

Working with the community, industry, traditional owners and other stakeholders to deliver 
conservation outcomes. 

Restated Restated Restated 

2016–17* 2017–18* 2018–19* 2019–20 

Target $1.04 $0.91 $1.02 $0.88 

Actual $0.78 $0.68 $0.68 $0.65 

Actual - as previously reported $0.78 $0.69 $0.69 

*See note ‘9.2 Correction of prior period errors’ for additional information on prior period restatement.

Note to indicator: The efficiency measure for externally funded management has remained 
consistent with the previous years with only a slight increase in area managed. This measure 
had been expected to increase with higher grants revenue anticipated from external sources, 
however, this did not eventuate.  
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Service 8: Implementation of the Forest Management Plan 

8.1 Average Cost per Hectare of Forest 

The figure used is the accrual basis average gross cost per hectare of managing State forest 
and timber reserves in accordance with the relevant management plan. State forest and 
timber reserves mostly fall within the area covered by the Forest Management Plan 2014-
2023. A small portion of State forest and timber reserves, 6.5 per cent, fall outside the area of 
the Forest Management Plan 2014-2023. The area managed is less than the area gazetted, 
as State forest and timber reserves that are proposed to become part of the formal 
conservation reserve system in the Forest Management Plan 2014–2023 are being managed 
as if the land category change had already occurred. 

Restated Restated 

2017–18* 2018–19* 2019–20 

Target $18.65 $16.98 $14.92 

Actual $12.68 $15.33 $14.28 

Actual - as previously reported $12.91 $15.62 

*See note ‘9.2 Correction of prior period errors’ for additional information on prior period restatement.

Note to indicator: The 2019-20 target cost per hectare included a budget component for 
external works program. The actual level of expenditure on the external works program was 
$0.45 million less than the budget, therefore the 2019-20 actual cost per hectare was lower 
than budget. 

Service 9: Prescribed Burning and Fire Management 

9.1 Average Cost per Hectare Burnt 

Delivering prescribed burning and fire management to protect the community and enhance 
natural values. Lands under the Department’s care are managed to protect communities, 
visitors and built and natural assets from bushfire damage and planned fire is used to achieve 
other land, forest and wildlife management objectives.  

Restated Restated Restated 

2016–17* 2017–18* 2018–19* 2019–20 

Target $15.69 $15.70 $16.57 $16.01 

Actual $15.52 $10.71 $14.38 $14.13 

Actual - as previously reported $15.70 $10.89 $14.63 

*See note ‘9.2 Correction of prior period errors’ for additional information on prior period restatement.

Note to indicator: Variable suitability of weather conditions and lower prescribed burning 
achievements, due primarily to COVID-19 restrictions on departmental resource movements 
across the South West forest regions, contributed to a 20 per cent decline in South West 
forest burn outcomes when compared to 2018-19. 
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Service 10: Bushfire Suppression 

10.1 Average Cost per Hectare Burnt 

Suppressing bushfires that threaten or occur on lands managed by the Department. 

Restated Restated Restated 

2016–17* 2017–18* 2018–19* 2019–20 

Target $15.88 $32.00 $17.10 $20.11 

Actual $32.56 $10.69 $8.75 $16.84 

Actual - as previously reported $33.04 $10.93 $8.90 

*See note ‘9.2 Correction of prior period errors’ for additional information on prior period restatement.

Note to indicator: The total area burnt by bushfire to which the Department contributed a 
suppression response in 2019-20 was 2,936,520 hectares. A significant and extensive 
contribution was made to assisting local government and the Department of Fire and 
Emergency Services management of a number of bushfires (1,141,702 hectares) that burnt 
through remote areas of unallocated Crown Land in the Goldfields, Wheatbelt and South 
Coast regions.    
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Ministerial directives

No Ministerial directives were received during the financial year.
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